
 Charity Bank 
Your bank for good 
Annual Report 2024 



Charity Bank Annual Report 2024 
 

 

 

 
 
The Charity Bank Limited (‘Charity Bank’) is a UK incorporated company limited by private shares, regulated by the Prudential 
Regulation Authority (‘PRA’) and authorised by the Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) as a deposit-taking institution under the 
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended by the Financial Services Act 2012). 
 
Our mission is to support and strengthen impact driven organisations that improve people’s lives whilst empowering savers and 
investors to put their money to work for positive social change. 
 
REGISTERED OFFICE 
Fosse House 
182 High Street 
Tonbridge  
Kent 
TN9 1BE 
 
Telephone: 01732 441900 
Email: enquiries@charitybank.org 
Website: www.charitybank.org 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:enquiries@charitybank.org
http://www.charitybank.org/


Charity Bank Annual Report 2024  

 

Contents 

Introduction to Charity Bank 4 

Statement from the Chair and Chief Executive 14 

Strategic Report 17 

Directors’ Report 37 

Independent Auditor’s Report 43 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 49 

Balance Sheet 50 

Statement of Changes in Equity 51 

Cash Flow Statement 52 

Notes to the Financial Statements 53 

Country by country reporting 92 

Independent Auditor’s Report- Country by country 94 

 Directors, Committees and Advisers          97 

 



Charity Bank Annual Report 2024 | 4  

About Us 
Charity Bank is the bank for people driven to make a difference. We bring together passionate savers, 
who want their savings to have an impact, with organisations seeking loans to create real change in the 
lives of people, communities and the planet – both now and for the long term. 

 
 

 
If you’re a charity or social enterprise on a mission to make a 
lasting impact, we care about your work and are committed to 
helping you achieve your goals. Our team of specialists 
understands the unique challenges faced by organisations 
focused on social impact. With Charity Bank, you can expect 
personal, flexible, and transparent relationships with tailored 
solutions for your borrowing needs. 

 
For savers, we put your money to work on projects tackling 
social and environmental challenges. By entrusting your funds 
to Charity Bank, you not only earn a financial return; you are 
also actively contributing to driving positive transformation 
and shaping a brighter future for all. 

 
Charity Bank is more than just an ethical bank – we’re 
fueled by a dedication to foster positive change in 
everything we do. We only provide loans to organisations 
actively working to improve the world around them, and 
all our shareholders are charities and social purpose 
organisations. As a result, every loan, deposit and 
investment is working for social good. 

 
Whether you need a loan to help you to deliver your social 
mission, or you want your savings to drive positive social 
change, Charity Bank is here for you. We’re your trusted 
partner, committed to supporting your efforts to improve 
lives and make the world a better place. 

 

 
 

In this section of the report, we share the stories behind the 
numbers that demonstrate the impact of our loans on UK 
charities and social enterprises and show the positive 
difference they have made to the lives of people, communities 
and the planet. 

 
 

Charity Bank – Your Bank for Good. 

 
 

 

 
 
“Charity Bank is not an ordinary bank, 
we’re a community of people working to 
bring about positive social change. We’re 
here to align financial resources with values 
and a commitment to social progress.” 
 

Ed Siegel, CEO, Charity Bank 
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 We have made over  
1,350 loans worth over 
£570 million across a  
wide range of sectors and 
causes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Established in 2002 as an independent regulated 
bank, Charity Bank has become a trusted partner for 
social sector organisations and people who want to 
make the world a better place. 

 
 Vision 

A society that fosters vibrant communities and a healthy 
planet, giving every individual the opportunity to thrive. 

 
Mission 

To support and strengthen impact-driven organisations 
that improve people’s lives, while empowering savers 
and investors to put their money to work for positive 
social change. 

Values 

Working in harmony 
We are all part of a whole, one community working 
together and depending on one another to deliver our 
shared mission and vision. 

Mutual respect 
We want to be known as an organisation that 
understands, values, and encourages difference. That 
means respecting the values, ideas, and beliefs of our 
customers, colleagues and stakeholders. 

Being the change 
Through our choices and actions, we are being the change 
– empowering charities and social enterprises to make UK 
society a better place. 
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Our strategy 

for impact 
 
Charity Bank is driven by social impact, and it is 
central to how we measure our success. By 
using the funds deposited by individuals and 
organisations to provide loans to impactful 
organisations, we aim to create positive change 
and address societal challenges. 

Our strategy is targeted and specific about the impact we 
aim to achieve. It was developed in consultation with 
shareholders and guided by the findings and 
recommendations of the Adebowale Commission on 
Social Investment. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
“Charity Bank will be the lender of choice 
for UK impact-driven organisations, 
uniquely positioned to lend to most 
organisations with a recognised social 
model and purpose, and specifically 
seeking out those organisations that are 
addressing the greatest needs of our society 
and the planet. 

 
In pursuit of this vision, we will aim to reach 
organisations and communities that have 
historically been underserved and 
underfunded, and we will prioritise those 
organisations that are serving the most 
vulnerable.” 

Ed Siegel, CEO, Charity Bank 



 

Impact strategy focus 
We seek positive impact on three levels. 

 
Strengthening charities and social     

            enterprises: 

Customer: Continually improve customer service to remain 
the lender of choice for UK impact-driven organisations. 

 
Additionality: Fill gaps in the provision of finance with 
appropriate funding solutions for social sector organisations. 

 
Strengthen: Build resilience and capacity to help our 
borrowers better deliver their mission. 

 

 People, community and planet: 

Diversity: Extend outreach to systematically underfunded 
groups. 

 
Depth of need: Prioritise organisations that are serving the 
most vulnerable, underserved, and marginalised. 

 
Locality: Seek to increase the penetration of our lending into 
the underserved localities that most need the services of our 
borrowers. 

 

 

Complex housing needs: Be more thoughtful and deliberate 
about lending activity in the area of complex housing needs. 

 
Environment: Build a ‘green lending’ portfolio. 

 

 Charity Bank-specific impact: 

Culture: Create an inclusive, diverse and positive employee 
experience by promoting policies and ways of working that 
provide equal opportunity, attract and develop diverse talent, 
and enhance personal growth. 

 
 

Our approach to assessing impact 
 

For every loan application, we consider both the capacity to 
support repayable finance, as well as the nature and 
magnitude of the social impact that the organisation delivers. 

 
When we assess the social and environmental impact of a loan 
application, we are not attempting to grade the impact as 
either ‘weak’ or ‘strong’. More precisely, we are seeking to 
determine how closely the organisation and the project being 
financed meet our key borrower impact objectives of 
diversity, additionality, environment, locality and depth of 
need. 
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Savings that 
create positive 
change 
At Charity Bank, we go beyond typical “ethical” 
choices; we make your savings a force for good. We 
are clear about where your money goes and share 
updates on how funds are used and the impact 
they make through our regular reports. 

Make a meaningful choice 

Choosing Charity Bank for your savings is more than just a 
financial decision —it’s a deliberate choice to match your 
money with your values. Each deposit you make helps change 
the financial landscape, directing funds to causes that create 
real and tangible change in communities. 

“People who choose to save with an ethical 
lender for greater social good rather than simply 
financial return are leaving a positive legacy for 
future generations. Not only this, but they’re 
making a real difference to people right now. 
The men who live in the property we purchased 
with help from a Charity Bank loan are being 
given a chance to turn their lives around. This is 
all thanks to the people who save and invest 
with Charity Bank.” 

Matthew Nice, St George’s Crypt 
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Investing for a 

better society 
Charity Bank’s ability to meet the ongoing needs of 
the social sector and support a wider range of social 
sector organisations also rely on the capital 
investment from our shareholders and subordinated 
debt investors. They play a crucial role in our ongoing 
success and impact. 

Through their investments, we can leverage in deposit funds 
and make social loans, creating a multiplier effect that 
magnifies the positive change we achieve. Their support 
enables us to serve as a dependable and consistent source of 
funding for organisations driving social change. 

 
Social Impact Multiplier 

For every £1 million of investment capital (equity and 
subordinated debt), Charity Bank can provide approximately 
£7 million in social loans. As these loans are repaid, the funds 
can be recycled, creating even greater impacts. 

 
Moreover, thanks to our loans, over half of our borrowers were 
able to unlock additional funding, such as grants or contracts, 
further amplifying the positive effects in our communities. 

 

 
 

“The way that Charity Bank is able to leverage 
equity investments means that the number of 
organisations supported, and the social impact 
created as a result, will be multiplied many 
times over.” 
 

Philippa Charles OBE, Director of the Garfield Weston 
Foundation 
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£1 £7 

£1 of capital 
enables 

£7 of loans 
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Social Impact Highlights 
In our Social Impact Report, we share the stories and numbers that demonstrate the impact of our 
loans on UK charities and social enterprises and show the positive difference they have made to the 
lives of people, communities and the planet. Here are 7 key areas where Charity Bank has made a 
significant difference: 

 

Reaching Underserved Communities: 

Charity Bank has prioritised serving the most deprived areas, 
where people face financial hardships, limited affordable 
housing options, and premature mortality rates. In 2024, 
Charity Bank’s loan approvals were directed towards the four 
most deprived deciles of the UK, bringing hope and support 
to communities that need it the most. 

 
Reaching Diverse Organisations: 

Recognising the underfunding of diverse groups as outlined 
by the Adebowale Commission report, Charity Bank has 
committed to extending its outreach and support to these 
communities. Our Social Impact data highlights the 
representation of diverse-led management teams and 
boards. In 2023, we approved loans totaling £13.5 million, 
and in 2024, we approved loans totaling £19.4 million to 
diverse-led borrowers.1 

 
1 “Diverse-led” is defined as 50% or more of the Senior Management Team 
or Board identifying as Black, Asian, and/or Global Majority, with long-term 
health issues or disabilities, or LGBTQIA+. 

 

Growth and Resilience: 

Our survey conducted among Charity Bank borrowers found 
that in the time since receiving our loan 91% reported an 
improvement in one or more measures of resilience and or 
growth. 56% reporting increased resilience, 50% enhanced 
their ability to withstand short-term shocks, 69% expanded 
the number of people they supported, and 54% delivered 
higher- quality programs and services. 

https://www.socialenterprise.org.uk/app/uploads/2022/07/Reclaiming-the-Future-Commission-on-Social-Investment-Report.pdf
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Enabling Vital Projects: 

Some borrowers turned to Charity Bank as their sole 
viable option to secure financing. Whether they faced 
obstacles with high interest rates or inflexible loan 
conditions from other lenders, Charity Bank stepped in 
to make their projects possible. Where a loan was for a 
specific project: 60% of respondents reported their 
project would not have proceeded without their Charity 
Bank loan and 29% would have been delayed. 

 
 

Mission-Critical Support: 

Respondents consistently reported that Charity Bank’s 
loans made a major positive contribution toward 
delivering their mission. The bank’s commitment to 
supporting organisations in achieving their goals was 
evident, with 96% of respondents acknowledging a 
positive impact. 

 

 
Support for First-Time Borrowers: 

Recognising that loan finance is still relatively new in the 
social sector, Charity Bank extended its expertise and 
support to first-time borrowers. 

In 2024 we approved loans totalling £21 million to 
organisations that have not borrowed before or who 
have only borrowed from Charity Bank, demonstrating 
the bank’s commitment to assisting smaller charities 
and those lacking in-house financial skills. Each 
borrower is matched with a relationship manager, 
ensuring personalised support throughout the loan 
process. 
 

 
 

Navigating the Cost-of-Living Crisis: 

The report reveals that 96% of respondents experienced 
increased operating costs, affecting cash balances and 
hindering their ability to meet growing demand. Charity 
Bank’s loans and supportive approach have helped 
organisations weather economic turmoil, with 56% of 
respondents affirming that the bank’s support bolstered 
their resilience and 55% stating it improved their crisis 
response capabilities. 
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Lending where it is needed most 

 
In 2024, Charity Bank extended support by 
lending £70 million to 104 different charities and 
social enterprises. Our borrowers focus on aiding 
some of the most vulnerable individuals in the UK, 
such as children in need, abuse survivors, and 
people living with disabilities. Their dedicated 
efforts cover diverse areas like education, training, 
housing, mental health services, and arts 
programs. We believe in the transformative power 
of these initiatives to bring positive change to the 
lives of individuals facing various challenges. 

 
Adam Outreach Project: Supporting homeless 
people in Suffolk 
Adam Outreach Project provides support for homeless 
individuals in Suffolk. Founded in 2004, the charity began 
with a small hotel and has since expanded to four main 
properties. Hope House is where most of the men start out. 
Along with a room, the charity provides a range of support, 
including counselling, signposting, advice and twice-weekly 
communal meals. The charity’s newest property Harmony  

House was bought with the help of a Charity Bank loan. This 
new house is allowing the charity to expand what they offer 
to people and to sustain their services for years to come. 

 
Derwent Training: Supporting people in North 
Yorkshire to upskill 

Derwent Training offers engineering and leadership 
apprenticeships in Malton, North Yorkshire. Founded in 1988, 
the charity supports around 200 apprentices annually across 
1,200 square miles. A few years ago, the charity faced financial 
difficulties and took out a high-interest loan. When Claire 
Gavaghan became CEO in 2019, she helped reduce outgoings 
and approached Charity Bank for refinancing. 

Charity Bank provided more favorable terms, saving Derwent 
Training up to £500 in interest each month. The money the 
charity is saving is being reinvested in equipment and 
improved facilities, which will benefit its learners for many 
years to come. 

 

 



 

Ella’s: Helping trafficking survivors to rebuild their 
lives 

Ella’s supports female survivors of trafficking and exploitation 
in the UK. The charity provides a bespoke package of care, 
including help with basic skills, asylum applications, and long-
term trauma support. A key part of Ella’s work is providing safe 
houses, which allow women to focus on recovery and 
rebuilding their lives. Ella’s leases most of its safe houses but 
recently bought its first property with a Charity Bank loan. 
Owning rather than renting the property is not only 
benefitting the charity financially but it also gives them more 
flexibility when it comes to the women they can support. 

 
Open Door North East: Providing safe homes for 
refugees 

Open Door North East supports asylum seekers and refugees 
with furnished accommodation and a wrap-around care 
package, including English lessons and job assistance. The 
charity borrowed £144,000 from Charity Bank to buy three 
properties, housing 12 refugees. 
 
The bank’s support was crucial, showing care for the charity’s 
mission. With stable housing, refugees can focus on rebuilding 
their lives. A former service user noted that having a home 
removes the constant worry of where to sleep, allowing other 

aspects of life to fall into place. Owning assets also benefits 
Open Door North East by improving financial stability, 
flexibility, and ensuring high-quality accommodation and quick 
repairs. 

 
The Hamlet Centre: Supporting people with 
disabilities 

The Hamlet Centre provides services for children and adults 
with severe disabilities and complex health needs, including a 
pre-school, play scheme, over 16s social club, and respite 
breaks. It is one of the few organisations in Norwich that still 
runs a day centre for young adults, offering activities like arts 
and crafts, computer games, and socialising in a welcoming 
environment. 

 
The Hamlet’s adult day centre is housed in a former Victorian 
school, and faces challenges with narrow corridors and 
doorways. To avoid reducing numbers, the charity sought a 
loan from Charity Bank to expand their services. Although the 
initial property fell through, the building next door became 
available. The charity’s offer was accepted, and plans are 
underway to connect the two buildings, providing more space, 
improved access, and a new garden. 
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Statement from the 

Chair and Chief Executive 
At Charity Bank, we never cease to be inspired by the charities, 
social enterprises, and other impact-driven organisations that 
we work with. Our borrowers work tirelessly to improve lives, 
strengthen communities, and protect the planet. Supporting 
them and the important work that they do is the reason that 
Charity Bank exists. 

Record Lending for Social Impact 

In 2024, we made significant strides by innovating and 
expanding our support to impact-driven organisations, while 
securing a strong surplus to reinvest in our social mission. The 
more we raise in capital and deposits from socially driven 
individuals and organisations, the more we can lend to socially 
impactful enterprises, and the more impact we can 
collectively achieve. We are immensely proud and thankful to 
the entire Charity Bank team for their combined efforts during 
the year, all of which contributed to the bank’s strong financial 
results and social performance. 

2024 was a record year in terms of drawdowns of new loans, 
disbursing £70.0 million compared to £53.5 million in 2023. 
Consequently, the net outstanding loan portfolio at the end of 
the year stood at £331 million, up from £285 million at year-
end 2023. Approvals of new loans also hit a record high at 
£85.4 million, giving the bank strong momentum as we begin 
2025 with ambitious new lending targets. 

Impact Strategy 

The Crucial Role of Charity Bank 

Charity Bank is uniquely positioned to support and strengthen 
charities and social enterprises by providing tailored loans and 
additional support. Our team has a deep understanding and 
commitment to the needs and challenges faced by impact-
driven organisations, both large and small. This includes 
flexible terms and repayment schedules designed to support 
the unique needs of such enterprises – and a willingness to 
lend when others say no or set unreasonable terms. Our loans 
and support help impact-driven organisations improve their 
services and facilities, increase resilience and growth, and 
further their missions. 

Support Where it is Needed Most 

We are committed to extending our outreach to systemically 
underfunded groups, and prioritising organisations that serve 
the most vulnerable, underserved, and marginalised. Two key 
areas where we have made significant progress are in our 
lending to deprived communities and to diverse-led 
organisations. In 2024, 77% of our new loan approvals were to 
organisations operating in the 50% most deprived communities 
in the UK, compared to 69% in 2023. Our efforts to transform 
Charity Bank into a more equitable, diverse, and inclusive 
organisation, both as a lender and as a place of work, remain a 
core part of our strategy. Guided by the findings and 
recommendations of the Adebowale Commission on Social 
Investment, we are proud of the progress we have made in this 
area. In 2024, we approved loans totalling £23.3 million to 33 
diverse-led organisations, compared to £15.0 million to 28 
diverse-led organisations in 2023. 

Green Lending 

We continue to grow our green lending book by helping impact-
driven organisations retrofit properties and reduce their carbon 
footprint, and lending to organisations primarily concerned 
with environmental impact. In 2024, this included a loan to the 
Eden Project in Cornwall, a global garden, educational charity, 
and social enterprise. The Eden Project has transformed a 
former clay pit into a thriving landscape, renowned for its 
ecological conservation efforts and iconic biodomes that house 
diverse ecosystems from tropical rainforests to Mediterranean 
environments. Our support helps the Eden Project continue its 
mission of fostering a deeper understanding of how humans can 
work in harmony with nature. 

More information about our environmental impact can be 
found on page 20 to 24. 

Social Investment Solutions (‘SIS’) 

Our SIS team continues to play a pivotal role in enabling us to 
reach smaller organisations, including those unable to access 
finance from alternative sources. Over the past two years, our 
SIS team were responsible for a 128 new loans approved, 
including unsecured loans and blended finance transactions 
with an added grant component to improve the viability of loan 
applications. 
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Statement from the 

Chair and Chief Executive (continued) 

Social Investment Solutions (‘SIS’) (continued) 

The SIS team operated three different blended finance 
programmes during the year supported by grant funding from 
Access – The Foundation for Social Investment, including: 

• Our ongoing LEAP programme of flexible loan products; 

• A blended finance facility supporting organisations to 
address the cost-of-living crisis; and 

• A programme to help organisations take advantage of 
cost-saving energy efficiency investments. 

All three programmes successfully met their targets, allocating 
a significant portion of the funding to low-income 
communities situated in the bottom 30% of localities ranked 
by economic deprivation (66% of loans approved in 2024). 
30% of loans approved in 2024 were directed towards 
management teams led by individuals from diverse 
backgrounds.  

There have been significant learnings from the programmes, 
many of which are applicable to our wider work across the 
bank. With the support of a Learning Partner, these have been 
evaluated and shared internally. For example, we recognise 
that the making of high volumes of relatively small loans 
requires us to adapt our operating processes if this activity is 
to be sustainable in the long-term. We intend to share these 
learnings publicly during the course of 2025. 

Savers and Investors 

Charity Bank would not be able to provide any of these loans 
without its savers and investors who choose to use their 
money to support positive social change. Our deposit book 
increased by 13% to £387.2 million in 2024, a testament to the 
socially conscious choices of our depositors. A deposit or 
investment with Charity Bank is a positive and intentional 
choice, giving our savers the assurance that their funds will 
only be invested in mission-led organisations working to 
address disadvantage and improve lives. 

Charity Bank Brighter Futures Fund 

In addition to our blended finance programmes, we launched 
the Charity Bank Brighter Futures Fund (‘BFF’) in Q4 2024. This 
is a donor-advised fund supported by donations from Charity 
Bank profits and waived shareholder dividends which aims to 
support organisations that would otherwise not be ready to 
take on loan finance. To date, contributions of £500,000 and 
£330,000 have been made from 2023 and 2024 profits, 
respectively, complemented by an additional £41,081 from 
dividends waived by shareholders. As of March 2025, seven 
organisations had received grants from the BFF totalling  

 

 

 

£254,000, which enabled £1.2 million in loan financing. Of the 
fifteen grants approved so far, twelve have been awarded to 
diverse-led organisations, and fourteen to organisations based 
in the bottom 30% of localities ranked by economic deprivation. 

Financial Performance 

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the bank registered a 
net profit of £4.9 million. This compares to a record result of 
£7.8 million in 2023, with the £2.9 million variance primarily 
driven by increased staff and IT costs to support our loan 
growth, the impact of the £830,000 contribution to the Brighter 
Futures Fund, an impairments charge for 2024 rather than the 
release recorded in 2023 and increased taxes as the Bank fully 
utilised prior year losses during 2023. 

The Bank’s net interest income remained stable for 2024, with 
increases in both interest receivable and interest payable. 
However, the overall net interest margin is gradually declining 
from its peak in 2023 due to the decreasing base rate and a 
relatively higher cost of funds, partly driven by increased 
competition across the deposits market. This gradual 
downward trend reflects the customer asset and liability 
profiles of the Bank and their corresponding behaviour in a base 
rate declining environment. Note 28 “Interest Rate risk” 
illustrates the Bank’s sensitivity to base rate and how Charity 
Bank’s variable base rate linked customer loans and mix of 
variable and fixed deposits led to swift gains in a rising base rate 
environment, versus the slow reversal of this benefit as base 
rate falls and existing fixed rate deposits mature and are 
replaced with higher cost customer deposits. 

2025 will see continued investment in people and technology 
which the Bank views as critical to the our ongoing growth and 
development. 

Although our primary intention as a social enterprise is to 
reinvest the vast majority of our profits into growing our social 
impact, the net profit achieved in 2024 has allowed us to 
recommend the second dividend payment in Charity Bank’s 
history at this year’s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
(‘AGM’). Our shareholders are exclusively charitable 
foundations and social purpose investors, so we are happy that 
these dividend payments will continue to benefit the wider 
social sector. These dividends being paid to impact-driven 
organisations that can use them in support of their core costs 
and/or further grant making. 

 

 
 



Charity Bank Annual Report 2024 | 16  

Statement from the 

Chair and Chief Executive (continued) 

Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (‘EDI’) 

At Charity Bank, our commitment to EDI goes beyond being just a 
part of our mission—it is ingrained in our values. Our efforts to 
transform Charity Bank into a more equitable, diverse, and inclusive 
organisation, both as a lender and as a place of work, continue to 
be a core part of our Strategy. We are committed to building a 
workplace that nurtures inclusion, belonging, and psychological 
safety, creating an environment where everyone feels valued, 
respected, and empowered to contribute, thereby unlocking the 
full potential of our employees and driving organisational success. 

We have embedded EDI into our Five-Year Strategy, board 
reporting, and business targets. Our dedicated EDI leads and 
strengthened Diversity Working Group are working to improve 
representation from all levels of the organisation. Collaborating 
with The Social Investment Consultancy (‘TSIC’), we have engaged 
stakeholders, conducted an independent audit, and developed an 
EDI vision statement and action plan. To reduce bias and increase 
diversity, we implemented the Applied recruitment platform. As a 
Disability Confident Committed Employer, we have rolled out 
training across the bank. Additionally, we joined the Diversity 
Forum’s Manifesto 2.0 and signed the Women in Finance Charter 
to foster gender equality. Our flexible working patterns, four-day 
week, mental health measures, and staff neurodiversity affinity 
group further demonstrate our commitment to creating an 
inclusive and supportive workplace. 

We recognise that fostering an inclusive and diverse workplace is 
an ongoing journey and there is much more for us to do. 

Thanks 

We greatly appreciate the support of everyone who has 
contributed to the growth and success of Charity Bank in 2024, 
not least our amazing coworkers at the bank. Charity Bank 
benefits from the support of a wide range of partners, including 
pro bono assistance from Linklater, Weil, and Oliver Wyman. It 
is through the combined efforts of our savers, investors, 
coworkers, directors, advisors, and partners that we can 
continue to make a meaningful impact on society. 

 
 

Alan Hodson 

Chair, Charity Bank 

 
 

Edward Siegel CEO, 
Charity Bank 
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Strategic Report 
Strategic Impact- Your Bank for Good 

In 2022, we introduced a five-year Business Strategy to amplify our impact. Our focus is on growing our positive 
influence on society, underpinned by our mission to be the lender of choice for UK impact-driven organisations. 

Our Impact Strategy, outlined on page 6, aims to continuously improve services, fill finance gaps for social sector 
organisations, serve the most vulnerable, reach economically deprived areas, promote diversity, explore green 
lending opportunities, and foster a positive workplace culture. 

Highlights from our 2024 Impact Strategy: 

• Customer Satisfaction: Achieved a Net Promoter Score of 86 among organisations with new loans (77 in 2023), 
positioning Charity Bank in the top 5% for customer satisfaction compared to published data from high street 
banks (Customer Gauge, 2023). 

• Locality: 77% of loan approvals, totalling £68.8m, were for organisations supporting the 50% most deprived 
communities in the UK (69% totalling £36.8m in 2023). 

• Diversity: Approved £23.3m of loans to 33 organisations with boards or senior management teams led by 
diverse individuals (£15.0m to 28 organisations in 2023). 

• Green: Approved £2.4m of loans to 12 organisations focused on environmental impact or making energy 
improvements to their buildings (£4.1m to 2 organisations in 2023). 

• Additionality: Of the organisations we approved loans to in 2024, 45 were first-time borrowers or had only 
previously borrowed from Charity Bank. 14 had been declined or considered it unlikely they could access 
finance elsewhere, 12 found other lenders too slow to make a decision while 21 found offers from other lenders 
to be too onerous, expensive, or less attractive.  

For additional social impact highlights, please refer to page 10. 

Impact Data Sources  

- Loan Application Impact Scorecard, which included self-reported data; 
- Financial metrics obtained from Companies House, Charity Commission UK, Charity Commission NI, and the 

Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator (‘OSCR’); and 
- Borrower Impact Survey conducted in 2024. 

This analysis was based on the available data at the time of compiling the report. Some of the social impact data 
reported in our 2023 annual accounts has been restated and improved based on enhanced data capture and quality 
controls. Where data was not available, it has been excluded from the analysis. 

Financial highlights 

The Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2024 have been prepared in accordance 
with UK adopted International accounting standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable 
to companies reporting under those standards. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 

Financial highlights (continued) 

Summary financial indicators at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out below. 

 2024 2023 % Increase  
 £'000 £'000 (Decrease)  
Balance sheet     
Balance sheet total assets 445,667 395,967 12.6%  
     

Loans and advances to customers before 
impairments 

332,493 286,967 15.9% What we are about - support and finance 
for charities 

     

Deposits 387,175 342,963 12.9% Funded by private individuals, companies 
and charities 

     

Cash and balances at banks 97,352 91,420 6.5% Cash and short-term balances with other 
banks 

     

High quality liquid assets 14,868 16,679 (10.9%) As defined under prudential regulations 
     

Subordinated loan notes 9,346 8,141 14.8% From individuals benefiting from 
Community Investment Tax Relief 

     

Total shareholders' funds 43,352 39,563 9.6% Representing share capital and retained 
earnings 

     

Profit after taxation and total 
comprehensive income for the year 

    

Net interest income 15,939 16,015 (0.5%) What we earn from lending and interest 
earned after the cost of our funds 

     

Other income 821 740 10.9% Fees and commission income, grant 
income from LEAP and other programmes 

     

Administrative expenses 
    Of which:       
   Other operating expenses 
  Contribution to BFF 

(9,775) 
 

(8,845) 
(830) 

(7,818) 
 

(7,818) 
- 

25.0% Total costs for operating and managing 
Charity Bank 
 
Contribution based on 2023 and 2024 profits 

     

Tax expense (1,649) (1,153) 43.0% Assessed loss carried forward fully utilised 
in 2023 

     

Profit after taxation and total 
comprehensive income for the year 

4,941 7,837 (37.0%)  

     

Dividends paid (1,566) - 100% Paid in June 2024, based on 2023 profits 

Loan origination and progression     
Loans approved by value during the year 85,361 68,715 24.2% Loans approved during the year for 

progression to be drawn down 
     

Committed loans 48,831 53,230   (8.3%) Approved loans on which offers have been 
made to borrowers and are available to be 
drawn 
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How the numbers relate 2024 2023 
Loans to customers as a proportion of balance sheet before impairment 74.6% 72.5% 
Deposits as a proportion of balance sheet 86.9% 86.6% 
Loan (before impairments) to deposit ratio 85.9% 83.2% 
Income yield 6.8% 6.4% 
Average cost of funds 3.4% 2.4% 
Return on shareholder funds 11.4% 19.8% 
Net asset value per share 128.95p 119.01p 

Charity Bank made a profit for the year of £4.9 million compared to £7.8 million in 2023. 

Balance sheet 

Charity Bank’s gross assets increased by 12.6% (2023: 10.6%) during 2024. 

On the assets side, loans (after impairment) to charities, community groups and social enterprises increased by 
16.0% (2023: 4.2%), with 74.6% (2023: 72.5%) of the balance sheet being used to make such loans. We now have a 
growing pipeline of loans at various stages of our approval and commitment processes and are receiving a high level 
of enquiries. On top of the minimum liquidity reserves that we are required to maintain by the Prudential Regulation 
Authority (the ‘PRA’), we hold a robust level of liquid assets to service our expected volume of loan commitments 
and drawn loan assets in 2025.  

With respect to liabilities, our deposits increased during the year, growing by 12.9% in 2024 (2023: 9.3%). 

Our deposit book remains well diversified across four classes of UK based savers (businesses, charities, credit unions 
and individuals). We have seen a net lengthening in the maturity profile of our deposit book from 224 days to 228 
days. The average residual maturity of our term deposits has remained flat at fourteen months. The average notice 
period decreased fractionally from 41 to 38 days. A more detailed analysis of our deposits is provided in note 19 in 
the Notes to the Financial Statements. 

Profit and loss 

Our net interest income decreased slightly by 0.5% (2023: 70.4% increase) and is reflective of the reducing net 
interest margin driven by the falling base rate environment which offsets the balance sheet growth plus the impact 
of the increasing cost of funds relating to the maturity and replacement of existing fixed rate deposit funding. 

The increase in the cost of funds has primarily been driven by the structure and repricing characteristics of the Bank’s 
fixed-rate customer deposits. Initially, the bank benefited from a delayed increase in funding costs during a rising 
base rate environment, but this advantage has diminished over time as lower-cost fixed-rate deposits have matured 
and been replaced by new, higher-priced deposits. Refer to note 14 for a breakdown of the loan portfolio, 8% of the 
loan balance relates to fixed rate loans. 

Fee income decreased by 5.9% from £596k to £561k (2023: 17.7% decrease), this is mainly due to a decrease in 
income from commitment fees.  

On the expenditure side, other operating expenses increased by 14.4% from £7.8 million to £8.9 million (2023: 
30.1%), the main driver being an increase in headcount and IT costs. A discretionary contribution was also made to 
the BFF of £830k based on 2023 and 2024 profits. The tax expense increased from £1.2 million to £1.6 million, 2023 
was lower as the assessed loss that was carried forward was still being utilised. Dividends of £1.6 million were paid 
in 2024 based on 2023 profits. 
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Net impairments and write offs offset by the first loss grant for the LEAP programme for the year, was a small charge 
of £4k. Impairments across loans and non-lending assets were a release of £230k (2023: £365k release), 
predominantly due to improving economic indicators leading to the unwinding of loan loss provisions taken in prior 
periods. Refer to note 25 and 28 relating to the expected credit loss charge for the year. 

Environmental impact 

Introduction 

At Charity Bank, we strive for a sustainable blend of social, economic, and environmental benefits for all stakeholders 
and society at large. Guided by our mission to support people and the planet, we are committed to reducing our 
environmental footprint across all facets of our operations. 

Our environmental impact encompasses two primary areas: 

1. Internal Activities: This includes our travel, material usage, procurement practices, office operations, and staff 
travel arrangements. 

2. Lending Activities: Through the projects and activities we finance, we aim to support climate change mitigation 
efforts and environmental sustainability. 

Governance 

The Board recognises the significant impact that climate change could have on the economic and political landscape 
and seeks to ensure that financial risks arising from climate change are considered in its governance arrangements, 
risk management policies, scenario analysis and disclosure arrangements. 

We recognise climate change as one of the most significant social challenges facing the world today. Rising energy 
prices have made this an economic issue for our customers as well as an environmental one, prompting us to expand 
our 'green lending' activities. Additionally, we closely monitor broader environmental issues such as the 
implementation of the Biodiversity Net Gain policy. 

In April 2024, Charity Bank formed a Net Zero working group to lead our journey towards environmental 
sustainability and achieving net-zero emissions, succeeding our 2022 Green Champions working group. Tasked with 
developing strategies, setting targets, and engaging stakeholders, the committee aims to enhance our sustainability 
culture, integrate climate risk management, and drive us towards a low-carbon economy and our vision for a society 
that fosters vibrant communities and a healthy planet, giving every individual the opportunity to thrive. 

Strategy 

Our board and senior management’s commitment to the environment goes beyond regulated requirements. This 
dedication is demonstrated by the addition of ‘healthy planet’ to our vision statement in 2022 and prioritising the 
growth of our green lending portfolio in our business plan. Our Net Zero strategy is currently in draft, due to be 
reviewed and scrutinised by the Board during 2025 and published in early 2026. 

Charity Bank will, through its lending business, seek to be supportive of borrowers’ climate change mitigation 
activities and aims to develop new partnerships and products to support this goal. In terms of Responsible 
Investment, Charity Bank is aware of the need to consider Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG’) issues and 
that, where practical given Charity Bank’s size, these are considered alongside traditional financial measures in 
investment decision-making.  
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Our Initiatives 

In 2022, we introduced two green loan offers to incentivise energy-efficient building purchases and upgrades. 
Building on this, in 2023, we partnered with Key Fund to launch the Energy Resilience Fund (‘ERF’), providing blended 
finance solutions that include grants for energy audits and a mix of grants and loans for recommended investments. 

Expanding further, in 2024, Charity Bank initiated its own energy efficiency blended finance program with funding 
from Access – The Foundation for Social Investment. This program focuses on building improvements such as energy-
efficient heating, solar panels, and retrofitting measures like LED lighting. During the year to December 2024, our 
Green blended finance programme made loans of £426k alongside grant funding of £272k to 6 organisations, all to 
enable investment in energy saving building developments ranging from heating system and insultation upgrades, 
to installation of solar panels for direct renewable energy generation.  

Our Environmental Practices 

As an ethical bank, Charity Bank is mindful of its own impact on the environment and takes positive steps to mitigate 
climate change through the operation of its head office (reuse and recycling arrangements, use of local suppliers, 
etc.) and its staff travel arrangements (encouraging use of public transport). Charity Bank seeks to minimise the 
carbon footprint of its premises by sourcing electricity from a green energy provider. The environmental policy 
encourages staff to consider such risks that are within its control in its day-to-day business activities and its supplier 
selection processes. 

We were delighted to receive Green Level accreditation from Investors in the Environment (‘iiE’) in 2024 (the highest 
level of certification), in recognition of our continued commitment to reducing our operating emissions and working 
towards net zero, whilst supporting our customers to do the same. This comes after receiving iiE Silver Level 
accreditation in 2023. 

Fossil-Free Alliance 

Charity Bank is a member of the Fossil-Free Alliance, a global network of organisations, communities, and individuals 
committed to divesting from fossil fuels and promoting a transition to renewable energy sources. Member 
organisations of the Fossil-Free Alliance work together to advocate for divestment from fossil fuel industries, 
encourage investment in renewable energy alternatives, and raise awareness about the environmental and social 
impacts of fossil fuel extraction and consumption. The alliance aims to accelerate the transition to a sustainable, 
low-carbon future by challenging the influence of the fossil fuel industry and promoting climate-friendly investment 
practices. 

Risk management 

Charity Bank identifies climate risk as encompassing two main categories: 

1. Physical Risk: The risk of adverse impact to the bank from climate-related or weather-related events. These 
events might include droughts, extended periods of high temperature, floods, storms, or rises in sea level. 
Events of this sort could result in large financial losses to the bank’s lending customers, adversely affecting 
their creditworthiness. They could also impair the value of assets pledged to the bank as security. This aspect 
is considered through lending decisions and collateral quality evaluation. 
 

2. Transition Risk: Risks arising from wider society’s adjustment away from fossil fuels and towards an economy 
with lower carbon dioxide emissions and more sustainable energy sources. This could include wider policy 
changes as well as public sentiment or technological development. This type of risk may result in a 
reassessment of the value of some assets, including the potential for assets upon which the bank has security 
becoming stranded, devalued, or unsaleable. It may create or amplify credit exposures for lenders and could 
also adversely affect affordability for customers arising from increased investment requirements in energy 
efficiency. We continue to have a close focus on transition risks affecting our clients and their ability to continue 
to meet repayments as well as their other financial commitments, and are developing new lending products 
to assist customers with their transition challenges. This is expected to continue into 2025. 
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The Board has evaluated the potential impact of the above considerations, concluding that there is no material 
impact on the reported results and financial position for the year. 

Charity Bank remains attentive to environmental risks and will continue to prioritise environmental sustainability in 
our operations and lending practices in the coming months and years. 

Metrics and targets 

Over the past year, we have enhanced our carbon accounting methodology and data quality with support from iiE, 
the Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials (‘PCAF’), and the Global Alliance for Banking on Values (‘GABV’). 
The first table below presents a breakdown of our Scope 1, Scope 2, and Scope 3 emissions pertaining to our internal 
operations, along with Scope 3 financed emissions related to 81% of our loan portfolio as at 31st December 2024. 
The second table provides definitions for Scopes 1, 2 and 3 and how they relate to Charity Bank’s operations and 
emissions calculations. 

It is worth noting that our operating emissions decreased in 2024, primarily due to staff being more focused on 
reducing these emissions for example using public transport where possible and not using the 1st floor in the 
Tonbridge office on staff non-working days. We are closely monitoring this trend and proactively implementing 
measures to mitigate emissions. The loan portfolio financed emissions has increased based on our growth in the 
loan portfolio, more information being captured on the portfolio and the change in assumptions.   

Charity Bank is committed to offsetting its direct operating emissions through purchasing Verified Carbon Units. This 
year we have purchased a portfolio of international and UK based units to offset 2024 emissions of 38 tCO2e, through 
the following partners: 

1. Retrofit Credits - Developed by HACT and PNZ Carbon, Retrofit Credits is a carbon credits programme that 
verifies the emission reductions and social value of retrofit projects delivered by social housing providers. The 
service operates under the Verified Carbon Standard (‘VCS’), the internationally recognised standard for 
verifying carbon credits. Retrofit Credits not only help offset carbon emissions but also help residents enjoy 
warmer and healthier homes and contribute to the long-term wellbeing of local communities. Charity Bank’s 
purchase of Retrofit Credits has offset 20 tCO2e, as well as generating £13,624 worth of positive social value in 
the postcode areas of TN11, TN4 and TN12 (HACT UK Social Value Bank). 

2. Earthly - Earthly works exclusively with projects that restore nature and create multiple co-benefits for society 
and wildlife, as well as removing carbon. All Earthly projects go through a multi-layer assessment framework, 
approved by an independent Scientific Board of Advisors and verified by satellite. Verified Carbon Units have 
been purchased from the Albertine Rift & Mt. Elgon Agroforestry and Reforestation initiative in Uganda. This 
community-based carbon offsetting initiative connects Ugandan smallholder farmers to the voluntary carbon 
market - currently 41,000 smallholder households participate in the project, planting over 2 million trees and 
unlocking over $6m for local communities so far. 

Charity Bank has signed up to the Climate Change Commitment sponsored by the GABV and is an active member of 
PCAF. Through these initiatives, we are dedicated to measuring and disclosing the greenhouse gas (‘GHG’) emissions 
associated with our loan portfolio, aligning with the objectives of the Paris Climate Agreement. The figures presented 
serve as a baseline from which we will develop a comprehensive plan to achieve Net Zero emissions. 

 

 

 

 



23  

Strategic Report (continued) 
Environmental impact (continued) 

Metrics and targets (continued) 

 
Emissions:  
 

 

 31st Dec 2024 
    Location Based 

31st Dec 2024 
Market Based2 

 31st Dec 2023 
   Location Based 

   Operating Emissions tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e 
    Scope 2:    

Business travel by car (Grey fleet) 9.52 9.52 - 
      Provision of heat at Charity Bank office through  
      natural gas boiler (generation) 

3.69 3.69           4.99 

      Electricity use at Charity Bank office (generation) 15.76 -         17.38 
    Scope 3:    
      Business travel by car (Grey fleet) 2.62 2.62         14.98 
      Water supply & treatment from the Charity Bank 

   office 
0.13 0.13           0.16 

      Purchase of Gas (distribution) 0.61 0.61           0.82 
      Electricity (distribution) 5.19 -           5.69 
  Total 37.52 16.57         44.02 
  Purchased Offsets 38              45 
    

  Loan Portfolio Financed Emissions (PCAF Scope 3,  
  Category 15) 

   

  Commercial Real Estate 
     (Method 2b and 3, Data Quality 4 and 5) 

 38,516.44 -     25,582.94 

  Business Loans 
     (Method 3a, Data Quality 4) 

15,169.70 -      10,387.17 

  Project Finance 
    (Method 3a, Data Quality 4) 

1,216.83 -          985.60 

  Total 54,902.97 -     36,955.71 
  Net Carbon Outturn  54,940.49 -     36,999.73 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2 Location-based emissions account for greenhouse gas emissions directly produced within a specific geographical area, while market-based emissions 
consider the broader impact of goods and services consumed, factoring in their entire lifecycle. Charity Bank's use of 100% renewable electricity 
substantially reduces calculated market-based emissions as it eliminates emissions associated with electricity generation, a significant contributor to 
overall emissions in the market-based approach. 
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 Category  Descriptions 
Scope 1 Direct emissions stem from activities where Charity Bank owns or has direct control 

over the emission source. However, since we do not regulate gas usage (which is 
managed by the landlord), none of our emissions fall within Scope 1 classification. 

 
Scope 2 These emissions are associated with Charity Bank’s purchase of electricity and heat 

and staff travel for business purposes. We exclusively use 100% renewable electricity, 
which reduces our market-based emissions.  
 
The heating boilers at our office falls under the operational control of the landlord, so 
gas emissions are reported as Scope 2.3 

 
Scope 3 These refer to indirect emissions resulting from Charity Bank’s actions occurring at 

sources we do not own or control, excluding Scope 2 emissions. Currently, we report 
on business travel by car, water supply and treatment from the Charity Bank office4, 
and gas and electricity distribution emissions. 
 
Our Scope 3 Category 15 loan portfolio emissions are calculated using PCAF 
methodology across three asset classes: Commercial Real Estate (Method 2b and 3, 
Data Quality 4 and 5), Business Loans (Method 3a, Data Quality 4), and Project Finance 
(Method 3a, Data Quality 4). This represents 81% of our loan book as of December 31, 
2024. 5 

 

In the coming years, we will continue to enhance our environmental practices, expand our green lending initiatives, 
collaborate with others, and improve the quality of our emissions data.  

These efforts align with our goal to achieve Net Zero emissions, contribute to global climate action and pursue our 
vision for a society that fosters vibrant communities and a healthy planet, giving every individual the opportunity to 
thrive. 

Metrics and targets (continued) 

For detailed PCAF methodology, visit www.carbonaccountingfinancials.com. 

 

 

 

 
3 Gas emissions are determined based on our rent share of the building.  

4 Water contributions are determined according to our rent share of the building based on invoices and meter readings taken. 

5 Category 15 specifically focuses on emissions associated with investments, with the method outlined in The Global GHG Accounting and Reporting 
Standard Part A accessible through the PCAF website. Data reliability is scored on a scale from 1 to 5, with lower scores indicating better quality. In 
2024, for Commercial Real Estate loans, we applied an attribution approach using property value data at loan origination to link emissions to the loan 
amount. Older loans lacked data, resulting in full emissions attribution to Charity Bank, likely overstating emissions. Our calculations may evolve as we 
collect more data, potentially decreasing emissions with additional attribution factors, depending on the loan book’s composition. 

 

http://www.carbonaccountingfinancials.com/
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Our loan origination activities for the year have increased from 2023, with approvals in the year of £85.4 million, an 
increase of 24.2% on the previous year (2023: £68.7 million). Our undrawn loan commitments of £48.8 million at 
31st December 2024 decreased by 8.3% from 2023 (2023: £53.2 million). Such commitments consist of those 
transactions where we have made an offer to the borrower, where we are waiting for the loan documentation to be 
finalised, or where the available loan amount has not been fully drawn down. 

Stakeholder engagement- a section 172 statement 

Charity Bank is owned by, and committed to supporting, the social sector and its directors take responsibility for 
promoting its success for the benefit of its key stakeholders, which Charity Bank considers to be its shareholders, 
borrowers, depositors, and staff.  

Charity Bank facilitates positive social change across a range of social and environmental issues through the financial 
support we provide to our charity and social enterprise borrowers. We also aim to change the way that people think 
about their money and how it is used; savers and investors are attracted by the idea of their money being used to 
support positive social change. 

While we have a straightforward loans and savings business model, we think our brand, culture, sector knowledge 
and reputation set us apart from other lenders. Decisions are taken by directors for the long term with the view to 
building a sustainable business. Our record shows that charities and social enterprises can be responsible borrowers 
and that our due diligence, support and credit processes are effective. Our goal is to continue to build on these 
strong foundations and to become the lender of choice for impact-led organisations in the UK. We aim for the quality 
of our products, service and support to be the best in the social banking sector. 

Our staff work with our shareholders, savers and borrowers serving communities across the UK. The directors and 
the leadership team seek to provide a working environment in keeping with our ethical approach. Any actions by 
the board will always consider the interests of our staff, that they continue to be treated fairly and compassionately 
and that we maintain robust policies and processes to ensure diversity and equality. Staff are regularly provided with 
updates from senior management on the performance of the business and its social sector engagement through e-
mail, newsletters and CEO town hall meetings. Briefings also refer to the key financial and economic issues affecting 
Charity Bank. Charity Bank recognises the importance of its staff and ensures Charity Bank’s culture, and the morale 
of its employees are considered in decision-making committees and through the active engagement of the HR 
function. Charity Bank encourages feedback through surveys and regular open communication sessions with senior 
managers and directors. 

The directors are mindful of our impact on the environment and take positive steps to mitigate the risk of climate 
change through the operation of our business. Charity Bank seeks to manage its relationships with suppliers, 
customers and others with HR, environmental (climate risk) and supplier policies in place which are subject to regular 
review and oversight by board committees. 

With a demonstrated commitment to the social sector and an experienced team of specialists, the directors seek to 
ensure that the company maintains a reputation for high standards of business conduct and that regulatory risks 
and conduct risks are always managed effectively. 

Management of Charity Bank 

Unusually for a bank, but in keeping with its former charitable status, Charity Bank’s non-executive members of the 
Board are unpaid, but from 2024 have the option of claiming a fee for attending meetings. This change was 
motivated by our commitment to removing barriers to full participation at all levels of the bank. By offering 
compensation, we aim to encourage broader involvement and ensure that individuals from diverse backgrounds 
have the opportunity to contribute meaningfully to the bank's governance. 
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The majority contribute actively to the oversight of Charity Bank through membership of Board committees, 
supporting and challenging management. They also have direct meetings with customers, attend events and take 
part in the arrangements we make for our stakeholders to visit borrowers.  

Day-to-day management of Charity Bank is delegated by the Board to the Chief Executive (‘CEO’), who is supported 
by the executive management team. 

The Chief Executive is an Executive Director. The other members of the executive management team (‘EXCO’) also 
attend meetings of the Board and its committees as required.  

Risk management at Charity Bank 

Charity Bank seeks to remain solvent, well capitalised, trusted and operationally stable at all times. 

Charity Bank operates a three lines of defence approach to risk management. 

First line of defence: Business Management  
The first line of defence is responsible for 
implementation of Charity Bank’s strategy and for 
management of risk throughout the organisation.   
The first line consists of executive committees and 
line management. 

The first line: 
• Has primary responsibility for owning and 

managing Charity Bank’s risks; 
• Defines, operates, and reports on its 

controls; 
• Produces management information and 

reports on risks; and 
• Is responsible for compliance with   

regulation and legislation. 
 

Second line of defence: Risk & Compliance  

The second line of defence has responsibility for 
providing independent oversight and challenge of 
the first line and may provide guidance on risks as 
required.  

The risk function is led by the Chief Risk Officer 
(‘CRO’), who reports to the CEO with a dual 
reporting line to the Risk Committee chair. The 
CRO reports on risks and performance against 
appetite to the Risk Committee. 

As a matter of good governance, the Risk & 
Compliance function is not customer facing and it 
has no business targets. 

The second line: 
• Designs, interprets, and develops the risk 

appetite framework for the bank,       
consistent with its strategy; 

• Monitors the business as usual adherence 
to this framework; 

• Advises the board on risk appetite; 
• Supports delivery of regulatory change 

and monitors regulatory developments; 
 Provides challenge, oversight, and 

assurance over the management of risks; 
and 

• Develops and supports Charity Bank’s 
policies. 
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Third line of defence: Internal Audit  

The third line has responsibility for providing 
objective assurance across the bank of its 
governance, processes, controls, and risk 
management. 

Having regard to Charity Bank’s size and scope, the 
bank’s internal audit function is performed on an 
outsourced basis. The internal audit firm has a    
direct reporting line to the Audit Committee, 
independent of the first and second lines of    
defence. Its day-to-day liaison with the bank is 
through the Director of Risk & Compliance. 

The third line: 
• Conducts independent testing and 

verification of Charity Bank’s business 
models, controls, processes, and policies;  
and 

• Provides assurance Charity Bank’s risk 
management process is functioning as 
designed. 

In addition, the board and the board committees assist in risk management at Charity Bank by: 

• Assisting and guiding in the development of Charity Bank’s strategy; 
• Providing constructive challenge to management; 
• Scrutinising management’s performance in meeting the goals of Charity Bank and monitoring performance; 
• Assessing the integrity of financial information; 
• Satisfying themselves that the risk management and financial controls of Charity Bank are robust and 

appropriate to the bank’s size and complexity; and 
• Determining the appropriate remuneration levels for the Executive Directors and other senior management, 

signing-off certain senior hires, and working on succession planning. 

Committee structure  

Charity Bank is governed by a Board that is empowered to take such steps as are necessary to achieve Charity Bank's 
objectives. These include the making of appropriate arrangements for the sound management of Charity Bank's 
business. The overall responsibility for day-to-day management is delegated to the Chief Executive who is authorised 
to maintain an appropriate management structure.  

The Board delegates some of its powers to the following committees: 

• Audit Committee: responsible for oversight and challenge of the accounting policies and disclosures; 
supervising the issue and integrity of the audited financial statements of Charity Bank and the performance of 
the external auditors; reviewing and challenging the overall effectiveness of Charity Bank’s systems, processes 
and controls; overseeing whistleblowing arrangements; monitoring the performance and reports of the 
internal audit function; and approving the annual internal audit plan. 

• Governance Committee: responsible for overseeing good Board and Board committee governance; reviewing 
succession-planning, nominations and the skills mix of non-executive Board members and senior executives; 
and approving remuneration of the executive management and the reward policy for other members of staff. 

• Risk Committee: responsible for the oversight of risk management systems, policies and procedures; 
monitoring the operation of the risk management framework; reviewing key risks (including emerging risks); 
overseeing and challenging liquidity and capital adequacy including regulatory documents such as the Internal 
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (’ICAAP’); the Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (’ILAAP’), 
and the Recovery Plan; recommending the setting of risk appetite statements to the Board; approving credit, 
liquidity, market (interest rate) risk and operational risk policies; monitoring financial crime and regulatory 
risks; and setting policy on asset and liability management, interest rate risk and exposures to financial 
counterparties; and for monitoring the work of the Assets and Liabilities Committee (‘ALCO’), Super Internal 
Credit Committee (‘SICC’) and Internal Credit Committee (‘ICC’). 
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Each of these board committees is chaired by an appropriately-skilled non-executive director. Appropriate members 
of management attend the committees’ meetings, and the committees also spend a portion of their meetings in a 
NED-only session. 

In addition to these sub-committees of the Board, Charity Bank has four executive-level committees: 

• EXCO: responsible for assisting the Chief Executive in the performance of their duties within the bounds of 
their authority, including consideration of business strategy and management, investment and financing, risk 
management and controls, and any other activities required to deliver effective management oversight of 
Charity Bank. 

• ICC: responsible for considering credit applications and variations in accordance with its delegated limits; 
managing the loan book including the higher risk accounts (designated as Out of Order, Full Watch List and 
Internal Watch List or forborne accounts); and approving the taking of impairments and write-offs. 

• SICC: responsible for considering credit applications and variations and approve novel or contentious loans in 
accordance with its delegated limits. The membership of the SICC is the membership of the ICC but has stricter 
quorum requirements. 

• ALCO: responsible for assisting the Chief Financial Officer in managing financial risks; recommending policies 
on the investment of capital and liquid resources to the Risk Committee; reviewing exposures to interest rate 
risk and financial counterparty risk; and monitoring that management of liquidity and capital meets business, 
risk appetite and regulatory requirements. 

Principal risks and uncertainties 

The Board recognises that Charity Bank’s concentration of lending activities in one sector, its standing as a mission-
led enterprise and the standards expected of such an entity, and its small size give rise to inherent risk and the need 
to maintain close vigilance over its activities. 

In assessing the risk appetite of Charity Bank, the Board considers that the bank is exposed to three types of risk: 

• Strategic risk: the risks arising from either the external environment serving to prevent Charity Bank realising 
its strategy, or internally from a poor choice or execution of strategy. 

• Financial risk: the credit, liquidity and interest rate Charity Bank takes in its activities or transactions to drive 
the bank’s financial performance (see pages 29 to 32). 

• Operational risk: the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or 
from external events, and including the incidence of legal risk. 

The Board takes the view that Charity Bank’s principal risks and uncertainties lie in its exposures to: 

• uncertainties in the political and economic environment for the social sector and changes in the government’s 
approach to social policy; 

• the ongoing upwards movements in cost of living and cost of energy, with the resulting impact on affordability; 
• interest rates, particularly the Bank of England base rate; 
• credit risk and the concentration risks of that exposure in one sector, with resulting lack of portfolio 

diversification; 
• liquidity risk, particularly the need to fund increases in the loan book with more capital and deposits from 

savers and the mismatch between the tenor of loans and the maturity of its deposits; 
• interest rate mismatches on its assets and liabilities; 
• risk to Charity Bank and its borrowers arising from long-term climate change; and 
• operational risk, particularly in the form of IT & cyber risks, operational resilience, and the people risks arising 

from its small size. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties (continued) 

Risk management at Charity Bank is enabled by: 

• Operating a single, simple business model with strong risk governance; 
• Having a risk management framework covering principal risks, 
• Our clearly defined three lines of defence model; 
• Risk management and monitoring to ensure the risk appetite is respected; and 
• Having sufficient human and financial resources, including capital and liquidity, such that we are able to survive 

stress periods whether they be market-wide or specific to Charity Bank. 

The risks to which Charity Bank is exposed are mitigated in various ways as set out below. 

Political and economic environment risk (strategic and operational) 

The adverse impact from continuing political and economic uncertainty on Charity Bank and social sectors remains 
a risk. Demand for new loans from social sector organisations has so far held up despite a lack of clarity in 
government policy on funding projected shortfalls in health, housing and social care budgets. 

Charity Bank’s operational model may in the future experience impacts to its business performance resulting from 
ongoing changes to the wider UK political and economic environment, and these may affect the behaviour and 
performance of its savers and borrowers. Such economic stresses are modelled and assessed in the capital and 
liquidity adequacy assessments described below. 

The change in government in July 2024 and subsequent budgetary measures such as the change to employers’ 
national insurance may affect Charity Bank and its borrowers into the future. 

Charity Bank also notes the geopolitical risks which have continued to develop in 2024, such as in Eastern Europe 
and the Eastern Mediterranean area. Charity Bank has no direct lending in these areas and the indirect lending 
effects on these risks are captured under credit risk. 

Credit risk and concentration risk (financial) 

Charity Bank has in place a system to control its exposure to credit risk, including the taking on of new loans in line 
with its Credit Risk Policy and the reporting on and monitoring of its exposure to the risk of financial loss from the 
incidence of credit risk. The setting of credit risk policy is delegated to the Risk Committee in accordance with the 
risk appetite set by the Board. New loans are approved by the SICC, ICC, or members of the Credit Department in 
accordance with their delegated authority limits. The Risk Committee, ICC, and the Director of Credit monitor the 
quality of the loan portfolio and any concentrations of risk and trends; review the quality of existing loans whose 
value is impaired or loans where a payment has not been received on its due date from the borrower; and consider 
related reports and management information. 

All loan applications are assessed with reference to Charity Bank’s Credit Risk Appetite and Credit Risk Policy, 
including the use of an internal credit grading model. In most cases, Charity Bank takes security in the form of a legal 
charge over fixed property assets of the borrower. The secured assets will generally be the freehold or long-term 
leasehold property. Credit risk is also managed through continuous engagement with borrowers. Charity Bank 
maintains an expected credit loss (‘ECL’) loan loss allowance for portfolio wide credit risks as well as specific 
impairments against loans considered credit or financially impaired. The impairment methodology and key 
assumptions are reviewed annually by the Audit Committee. Charity Bank updated its’ Credit Risk Policy and appetite 
in 2024 to ensure they remain current and appropriate to its operations.  
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Credit risk and concentration risk (financial) (continued) 

The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of models, as the 
exposure varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of 
credit risk of a portfolio of assets requires further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults and losses occurring. 
Charity Bank measures credit risk using Probability of Default (‘PD’), Exposure at Default (‘EAD’) and Loss Given 
Default (‘LGD’).  

Charity Bank uses internal credit risk gradings that reflect its assessment of the probability of default of individual 
counterparties. The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases as the credit risk increases 
(credit grade reduces). The credit grade is reviewed annually and compared to the credit grade at sanction in 
assessing whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. 

UK Treasury stock and other approved investments are held within Charity Bank’s high quality liquid assets (‘HQLAs’). 
ALCO approves appropriate limits for these instruments under a framework approved by the Risk Committee. Charity 
Bank follows a low-risk policy in relation to its treasury activities and places funds only with counterparties with 
sound external credit ratings.  

The Risk Committee regularly reviews Charity Bank’s exposure to credit risks and its system of internal control. 

Charity Bank is exposed to concentration risk from its remit to lend to social sector organisations (‘SSOs’). 

Charity Bank’s exposure to this risk is mitigated in several ways, including: 

• utilising sector expertise and relevant experience through its staff and its Board members;
• ensuring that lessons drawn from any loss experience have been incorporated in its credit policy; and
• diversification of exposure within the sector.

In pursuit of this goal, Charity Bank: 

• sets limits on its exposure to its top twenty borrowers as a proportion of its loan book and Tier 1 capital, limits
on its aggregate exposure to individual sectors, and a single borrower limit set in relation to its Tier 1 capital;

• makes its credit decisions primarily based on the ability of its borrowers to repay; and
• generally requires security over real estate assets as a secondary source of repayment.

In recent years, Charity Bank has launched a number of blended finance initiatives which have included smaller 
unsecured lending options, in many cases matched by grants disbursed by the bank but funded by a grant-making 
organisation. 

As a result of its expertise in and understanding of SSOs, its cautious stance on the maximum ratio of the amount of 
its loan to the value of the related security, and the low volume of unsecured lending that it has undertaken, the 
credit quality of Charity Bank’s loan exposures has remained stable and performed well despite the economic 
environment. 

The Board expects this outcome to continue in future in light of Charity Bank’s system of internal control for 
managing credit risk. 
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Liquidity risk (financial) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Charity Bank does not have adequate financial resources, both as to amount and quality, 
to ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities cannot be met as they fall due. 

Charity Bank is exposed to the risk of not being able to raise sufficient deposits to fund its growing loan book or to 
meet an unexpectedly high level of deposit withdrawals by customers. This is mitigated by: 

• seeking to maintain a prudent balance of deposits with differing maturities by offering a diversified portfolio 
of term and notice deposit products across both direct and indirect platforms. Notice period accounts range 
from same day notice (easy access) to a legacy 365-day notice period account, whilst fixed term products range 
from six months to 5-year Community Investment Tax Relief (‘CITR’) related products; 

• whilst Charity Bank has a diverse mix of depositors, particular efforts are made to attract personal depositors, 
charities and clubs, Credit Union and business depositors who are more likely to keep their deposits with 
Charity Bank when they reach maturity (evidenced by an average direct deposit retention rate of 82% in 2024); 

• a large proportion of our deposit portfolio is covered by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (‘FSCS’) 
guarantee (around 61%), with the remaining balances (excluding those relating to Credit Unions) being well 
diversified and spread over a large number of depositors and products (easy access, notice accounts and fixed 
products up to 5 year duration); and 

• Charity Bank is a member of the Bank of England (‘BOE’) Sterling Monetary Framework and therefore has 
access to both the BOE Operational Standing Facility (‘OSF’) and the Discount Window Facility (‘DWF’). The OSF 
lending facility is provided via collateralised overnight lending and offers protection against overnight market 
wide frictional liquidity stresses, whereas the DWF covers institution specific stresses on rollable terms of up 
to 30 days. 

The ILAAP is a firm’s own internal assessment which evaluates liquidity risk, funding mismatch and the management 
of these risks within Charity Bank. The ILAAP is updated annually and subject to review by the PRA. 

The Risk Committee sets and reviews Charity Bank’s appetite for liquidity risk in the liquidity policy, and recommends 
it for approval to the Board. The expression of appetite and capacity is translated into limits, thresholds and other 
indicators, for example, monitoring a worst-case asset/liability maturity profile. These take into account liquidity 
levels (including short-term cash flow forecasting), and threats to stakeholder value and reputation. Appetite is also 
a determinant in corporate planning and identifying future liquidity requirements.  

Management oversight of liquidity risk is undertaken at ALCO which is responsible for assisting the Chief Financial 
Officer to manage financial risks; recommending policies on the investment of capital and liquid resources to the 
Risk Committee; reviewing exposures to interest rate risk and financial counterparty risk; and monitoring that 
management of liquidity and capital meets business and regulatory requirements. 

Risk management and mitigation arrangements are in place through reporting Charity Bank’s exposure to liquidity 
risks by means of key performance indicators, which appear in management information packs for the Board and 
through regular monitoring by the Risk Committee of Charity Bank’s risk profile. 

Interest rate risk (financial) 

Interest rate risk refers to the current or prospective risk to a bank’s capital and earnings arising from adverse 
movements in interest rates, which affect exposures in its banking book. 

The Risk Committee sets and reviews Charity Bank’s appetite for interest rate risk and articulates this through a 
policy on Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (‘IRRBB’). The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for this policy, 
and the Risk Committee approves it on behalf of the Board. 
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Interest rate risk (financial) (continued) 

The expression of appetite for each type of interest rate risk is translated into appropriate limits and thresholds by 
the ALCO for review and approval by the Risk Committee. 

Regular management oversight of interest rate risk is undertaken through the ALCO.  

EXCO has responsibility for:  

• ensuring that Charity Bank offers the appropriate type and mix of loans and deposits products to its customers; 
and 

• setting interest rates on Charity Bank’s loans, deposits and loan notes. 

When making decisions in respect of these responsibilities, EXCO considers the impact on Charity Bank’s exposure 
to interest rate risk. 

Risk management and mitigation arrangements are in place through reporting Charity Bank’s exposure to interest 
rate risk by means of key performance indicators in management information packs for the Board and through 
regular monitoring by the Risk Committee of Charity Bank’s risk profile. 

Charity Bank reduces its exposure to interest rate risk by managing the maturity buckets of its assets and liabilities. 
In addition, in managing interest rate risks, Charity Bank considers the economic impact on its capital of a range of 
non-parallel shift in interest rates and the capacity of its capital to support a range of extreme interest rate stresses. 
Charity Bank does not currently use hedging instruments such as interest rate derivatives. 

Capital risk (strategic) 

Capital requirements 

Charity Bank is required to hold sufficient capital to meet its minimum regulatory capital requirements at all times; 
and it expects to hold such further amounts to support its growth plans, enable it to withstand adverse stress 
scenarios and continue to meet its Total Capital Requirement (‘TCR’) from the PRA, and provide comfort on its 
resilience to depositors, borrowers, shareholders and other key stakeholders. The Bank’s TCR as of 31st December 
2024 is 8.59%. 

Throughout 2024 Charity Bank has held capital in excess of its requirements. The components of the requirements 
are set out below. 

Capital regulatory framework 

Charity Bank operates under the CRD IV CRR regulatory framework and the PRA rulebook6 as required by its 
regulators: the FCA and the PRA. 

In 2024, Charity Bank opted-in to the PRA’s Small Domestic Deposit-Takers (‘SDDT’) regime, also known as ‘Strong & 
Simple’. The SDDT regime is expected to simplify some of the regulatory requirements on banks. It takes effect from 
1 January 2027. 

The prudential regulatory framework applicable to Charity Bank is designed to assess the adequacy of a firm’s capital 
resources by considering all material risks to its business, including those not covered or otherwise not adequately 
addressed by credit risk, market risk and operational risk, and the impact of stress tests conducted across a variety 
of different scenarios. Additionally, the regulatory requirements for assessing additional risks provide 
encouragement to firms to develop, operate and continuously improve their risk management techniques for 
monitoring, measuring and managing their specific material risks. 

 

 
6 Subsequent to Brexit, parts of the Capital Requirements Regulation (‘CRR’) have been on-shored by the Treasury and the PRA, whilst other parts 
remain in effect under transitional regulations. 
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Capital risk (strategic) (continued) 

Capital regulatory framework (continued) 

Charity Bank’s Capital Resources requirement is split into two categories: the Pillar 1 Capital Resources Requirement 
(‘Pillar 1’) being the sum of the credit risk capital requirement, the market risk capital requirement and the 
operational risk capital requirement; and the Pillar 2 Capital Resources Requirement (‘Pillar 2A and Pillar 2B’) which 
includes assessments for liquidity risk, concentration risk, earnings risk, interest rate risk, business risk, buffer 
requirements and an internal view of the effect of selected stress events. 

There are two stages to determining the final level of Pillar 2: the first being the analysis and conclusions in Charity 
Bank’s own ICAAP assessment, and the second being the PRA’s expression of its view which takes account of its 
oversight of Charity Bank and the results of its supervisory review meetings with Charity Bank. 

The ICAAP is a firm’s own internal assessment of the overall adequacy of its capital strength in the context of the 
material risks it has identified and of the outcome of the assessment of stress scenarios it has identified and 
quantified having regard to regulatory guidance. The ICAAP also includes the identification and evaluation of the 
impact of appropriate stress conditions, which are sets of sensitivities and scenarios designed to show the ability of 
Charity Bank to continue to meet its capital requirements under adverse (firm-specific and/or market-wide) 
conditions. 

A review meeting is part of a regular supervisory review and evaluation process conducted by the PRA in order both 
to review and evaluate a firm’s ICAAP processes and documentation, and to assess the quality of the firm’s risk 
management systems and internal controls. Based on this, the PRA makes its own determination of the capital 
adequacy of the firm and sets a minimum capital requirement for the firm through the issue of its ‘total capital 
requirement’. 

Pillar 1 

The Pillar 1 capital requirement is the sum of the credit risk capital requirement and the operational risk capital 
requirement. Under Pillar 1 Charity Bank calculates its credit risk requirement using the ‘standardised approach’ and 
its operational risk requirement in accordance with ‘the basic indicator approach’. Charity Bank is not exposed to 
Pillar 1 market risk. Under PRA rules, Charity Bank must hold total capital equal to 8% of its total risk-weighted assets 
to cover its Pillar 1 capital requirements. Capital requirements for operational risk are based on a percentage of 
average total income in the preceding years. 

Pillar 2A 

The Pillar 2A capital requirement is set by the PRA as part of its supervisory review and evaluation process (‘SREP’) 
and covers additional risks not deemed to be included appropriately within the Pillar 1 capital requirement.  

Charity Bank’s internal assessment of its Pillar 2A capital requirement includes assessments for liquidity risk, 
concentration risk, interest rate risk in the non-trading book and credit risk. 

Pillar 2B 

The Pillar 2B capital requirement reflects the amount of additional capital required under the Combined Buffer 
Requirement (being the aggregate of the Capital Conservation Buffer and the Countercyclical Capital Buffer) in 
addition to a further individual buffer set by the PRA. 

Pillar 2B also includes an internal assessment of capital stresses, which articulates Charity Bank’s own view of the 
potential impact on its capital of varying stress events.  
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Capital risk (strategic) (continued) 

Pillar 2B (continued) 

Charity Bank’s risk-weighted assets, leverage exposure and capital ratios at the year-end were as follows: 

                31st Dec              31st Dec 
                        2024                   2023 
                    £'000                   £'000 

Risk-weighted assets 225,196               190,056 
Leverage exposure 361,146  318,506 

   

CRD IV capital ratios % % 
CET1 ratio 16.67  16.15 
Total capital ratio 18.82 17.65 
Leverage ratio 10.39  9.64 

The Common Equity Tier 1 (‘CET1’) ratio is the ratio of a bank’s CET1 capital against its risk weighted assets, whereas 
the Total Capital Ratio includes both CET1 and eligible Tier 2 capital. The leverage ratio is a non-risk-based ratio which 
aims to ensure that a bank’s assets are in line with its capital levels. For Charity Bank the leverage ratio is defined as 
Tier 1 capital as a percentage of total assets including a percentage of off-balance sheet exposures), but before 
impairments and excluding central bank claims.  

For Charity Bank, the leverage exposure is defined as being total assets plus 10% of its committed loan offers. 

Further details of Charity Bank’s capital resources are provided in note 28 in the Notes to the Financial Statements. 

Climate risk (operational and financial) 

Charity Bank believes that climate change has become potentially the most significant social challenge facing the 
world today. Refer to page 20-24 in the Strategic Report for more information regarding the governance, strategy, 
risk management and the metrics relating to Charity Bank and carbon reporting. 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss or reputational damage arising from failed or inadequate processes, systems, and 
people, or from external suppliers and events. 

Our risk management framework and operational risk review processes identify, measure, and monitor these risks. 
Risk champions in each department of Charity Bank maintain risk registers and detail the controls in effect to remove 
or mitigate the risks, these are updated quarterly. 

Charity Bank uses the basic indicator approach to assess our capital requirement for operational risk.  

Training is available to staff to provide additional knowledge with identification and mitigation of risks. 

We also consider the following as risks to Charity Bank and its operations. 

Conduct risk (operational) 

Conduct risk arises where there is the potential for a poor customer outcome at any stage of the customer journey, 
such as through inappropriate execution of Charity Bank’s activities and processes. Examples include breaches of 
conduct rules, poor staff behaviours, or poor culture, causing detriment to Charity Bank, its staff, or its customers. 

Charity Bank manages conduct risk by encouraging appropriate behaviours and compliance with FCA regulations, as 
well as focusing on ensuring everything we do has customers’ interests in mind. 

Charity Bank has implemented the Financial Conduct Authority’s Consumer Duty rules in full over the past two years 
and reports regularly internally and externally on its compliance. 
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Operational risk (continued) 

Conduct risk (operational) (continued) 

Unknown legacy conduct issues may emerge. Regulation relating to the fair treatment of customers continues to be 
a focus in the financial services industry. The interpretation of fair treatment can evolve as time passes, and the 
decisions of today may be judged by the standards of tomorrow. 

Market risk (financial) 

Market risk is the risk to Charity Bank’s value or profits from adverse movements in external markets, such as changes 
in investment values or currency rates. 

At Charity Bank, we do not operate any proprietary trading activities. All of Charity Bank’s assets and liabilities are 
denominated in sterling; as such we have no exposure to foreign exchange risk.  

People risks (strategic) 

Whilst its exposure is mitigated by Charity Bank’s business model, the identification of staff with its mission, its 
supportive internal culture, and a strengthened focus of management on communication and transparency in staff 
relations, this risk will continue to be a challenge for a bank of its size. Hence Charity Bank draws on approved 
contract staff as well as specialist advice from external parties to supplement its own resources from time to time; 
it can and does recruit new staff from the wider financial services industry and in doing so can benefit from the 
appeal of its mission. 

Filling vacancies is increasingly challenging in the current environment and the increased timescales as well as costs 
mean that the risk arising from staff departures or unplanned absences is material. 

Cyber risk & information security (operational) 

Charity Bank uses computer systems as part of day-to-day operations, and to store most customer data. We invest 
in our cyber and information security infrastructure to improve services, protect customer data, and minimise the 
risk of disruption. As we do not offer online account servicing at the current time, we are less at risk than other 
banks in this regard. In 2024 we joined the Confirmation of Payee scheme. We envisage making provision for read-
only online access in 2025, which will inform an updated risk assessment. The majority of staff have at least some 
element of remote working and this creates its own risk elements. 
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Emerging risks 

Charity Bank regularly considers emerging risks to its business, and where management and the Board consider 
appropriate, will add them to the principal risks above. Based on management’s current views and assessments, 
risks considered as emerging risks include: 

Risk Impact 
Changes in customer behaviour Reduction in demand for Charity Bank’s products 

resulting in a need to improve rates, with an 
impact on net interest margin 

Challenge to attract and retain talent in a 
competitive market 

Increase in recruitment and payroll costs 

Digitalisation Potential for Charity Bank to be “left behind” if 
competitors have more attractive digital offerings 

Artificial intelligence and large language models Productivity impact of not adopting, potential use 
in fraud, risks from “hallucinations” 

Cost of living crisis potentially leading to 
“stagflation” (stagnation of the economy combined 
with inflation) 

Potential higher credit losses 

BOE base rate to continue its downward trajectory Reduction in net interest margin if Charity Bank 
cannot pass on interest rate reductions to savers 

Increase in competition for lending Reduction in gross profit if Charity Bank cannot 
secure new lending in accordance with plan or has 
to reduce rates to win custom 

Increase in competition for savings/increase to 
market interest rates driven by presence of deposit 
aggregators/ FCA Consumer Duty 

Reduction in net interest margin due to Charity 
Bank needing to pay more to attract deposits 

Changes and updates in regulation Increased cost of compliance and risks 

Changes in government policy such as 
amendments to the CITR scheme or the payment 
of Bank Base Rate on BOE reserves 

Compression of net interest margin 

Increases to the Bank’s fixed cost base Reduction of net profit 

The board also recognises that reputational risk, which could have a damaging impact on Charity Bank’s operations 
and franchise, might arise as a secondary risk from any one of its primary risk-taking activities. 

The financial statements on pages 49 to 91 were approved by the Board of Directors on 14th April 2025 and signed 
on its behalf. 

Alan Hodson 
Chair 
The Charity Bank Limited 
Fosse House 
182 High Street 
Tonbridge 
Kent 
TN9 1BE 
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Introduction 

Charity Bank is authorised by the PRA as a deposit-taking institution under the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 (as amended by the Financial Services Act 2012) and is regulated by the FCA and the PRA. It was established in 
2002 with a mission to lend to charities, community organisations and social enterprises, and in particular to those 
that find it difficult to secure funding from the traditional banking sector, with the support of investors and 
depositors who want to encourage more responsible and transparent use of their money. 

Charity Bank uses financial leverage to create social leverage in the community. Since 2002, Charity Bank’s innovative 
approach to lending and its mission to benefit society have enabled it to lend over £570 million worth of loans to 
hundreds of social sector organisations across the UK. It has well-established processes and controls over both the 
advancing of loans and the taking of deposits developed by its executive management team under the strategic 
direction of its board of Directors (the ‘Board’). 

Charity Bank has experienced a low rate of loss on its loans since its foundation. 

Given the stresses being faced by the social sector, Charity Bank continues to exercise close vigilance over the quality 
of exposures within its existing portfolio. 

The Board believes Charity Bank will see continued demand for its lending into social sector organisations as they 
continue to respond to the needs of their communities with the ongoing cost of living crisis. The Board is confident 
that Charity Bank is well-placed to respond to this demand, given its track-record of innovation, its public reputation, 
and its growing strength as an institution. 

The Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2024 have been prepared in accordance 
with UK adopted International accounting standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable 
to companies reporting under those standards. 

Share capital, reserves and dividends 

As at the Balance Sheet date, Charity Bank had issued 33,620,508 ordinary shares at £0.50 each. 

The Articles of Association permit payment of a dividend to shareholders at the discretion of the shareholders and 
Board of Directors, a dividend was paid in June 2024 after being approved at the AGM of £1.6 million (2023: £nil). 

Substantial shareholdings 

As at 31st December 2024 Charity Bank was aware of the following substantial holdings in its ordinary share capital: 

Shareholder name  Ordinary number 

        of shares  

  Percentage of issued  

ordinary share capital 

Percentage of 

  voting rights 

Better Society Capital Limited 16,973,812 50.49% 49.99% 

CAF Nominees Ltd - beneficial owner Charities 
Aid Foundation        4,100,011 12.19% 12.31% 
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Directors 

The directors of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial 
statements were: 

Name of Director Chair and Chairs of Committees  No. of board meetings 
attended during 2024 

 Alan Hodson  Chair of the Board & Chair of the 
 Governance Committee 

6/6 

 Paul Berry  Chair of the Risk Committee 6/6 

 Jonathan Britton OBE  Chair of the Audit Committee 6/6 

 Michael Crabb  Non-Executive Director 6/6 

 Yashmin Harun BEM Non-Executive Director (from 12th June 2024) 3/4 

 Neil Heslop OBE*  CAF-Connected Non-Executive Director 5/6 

 Rebecca MacDonald*  BSC-Connected Non-Executive Director 5/6 

 Caspar Mackay  Executive Director 6/6 

 Caroline Price  Non-Executive Director 6/6 

 Charlotte Ravenscroft  Non-Executive Director (to 12th June 2024) 2/2 

 Dr Ambreen Shah  Non-Executive Director 5/6 

 Edward Siegel  Executive Director 6/6 

 Prashant Solanky Non-Executive Director (from 12th June 2024) 4/4 

 Toby Walter*  BSC-Connected Non-Executive Director 5/6 

 * Refers to non-executive directors nominated by two shareholders. All other directors are considered independent.

The two substantial shareholders are entitled to nominate Non-Executive Directors for appointment to the Board 
under the agreements Charity Bank entered into, in relation to the making of the investment by Better Society Capital 
Limited in its ordinary shares. These individuals are defined in our Articles of Association as ‘Connected Directors’. 

Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable laws and regulations.  

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. The Report and Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31st December 2024 have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted 
International accounting standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies 
reporting under those standards. 
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Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements (continued) 

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In 
preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• state whether the Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2024 have been
prepared in accordance with UK adopted International accounting standards and the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies reporting under those standards;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company 
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. 

Going concern 

The Board of Directors have determined that these financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and 
that Charity Bank will have the ability to continue business for the foreseeable future from the date these financial 
statements are approved. 

In making this determination the Directors have assessed a number of projections, risks and the inherent strengths 
of the Bank including: 

• The Bank’s five-year strategy and financial plan, including sensitivity analysis, which were approved by the
Board in December 2024.

• The Directors have assessed the adequacy of the Bank’s capital and liquidity under both base case and severe
but plausible stress scenarios, including the outputs of reverse stress testing and mitigating management
actions, and, in conjunction with the Bank’s Supervisory Reviews, consider that the Bank have in place
adequate resources to support the delivery of its strategic objectives whilst adhering to all its regulatory
obligations; and

• The Directors have reviewed and approved the ILAAP, ICAAP and Recovery Plan documents and have ensured
that the stress testing scenarios appropriately identify and reflect any new, emerging or developing risks
including: changes in customer behaviour, model risk, digitalisation and a possible instability due to changes in
the political and economic environment.

The Board therefore remain satisfied that Charity Bank have the appropriate resources to continue to operate for 
the foreseeable future under a going concern basis. 
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Internal control 

The Board of Directors manage the risks to which Charity Bank is exposed through a system of internal controls that 
have the following main elements: 

• the setting of policies by the Board for the key activities of Charity Bank and its management of risks, and the
review and oversight by the Board of the practices of the executive management team in applying them;

• the delegation of authority by the Board to its Committees, including the Risk and Audit Committee, and to the
Chief Executive;

• an internal organisational structure characterised by functional separation of activities and decision-making;
• executive decision-making through EXCO chaired by the Chief Executive, the Credit Committees chaired by the

Director of Credit, and ALCO chaired by the Chief Financial Officer;
• the appointment of staff who have the requisite skills, experience and integrity; who are supported by the

provision of access to training where necessary, well-designed IT systems and process manuals, and a sound
system of performance management, and who are overseen by competent senior staff;

• the issue of operations manuals which set out all key procedures and approval authorities, including a credit
risk policy and lending manual which prescribes the procedures for making loans;

• the allocation of responsibility for compliance with applicable laws and regulations to designated individuals
and in accordance with the requirements of the FCA and the PRA;

• disaster recovery and business interruption plans and arrangements, cyber security controls, and daily back-
up of data from Charity Bank’s accounting and other systems;

• the regular and timely provision of management information to EXCO and to the Board in a form that is
consistent with good practice in the finance industry; and

• the issue of staff policies and procedures.

Charity Bank uses a ‘three lines of defence’ model adapted to be proportional to the nature and scale of its business, 
as described on pages 26-27. 

The Board and its Committees, and the management team and its committees, provide oversight and challenge 
across all three lines of defence. 

Risk management policy 

Charity Bank considers risk under three broad categories: 

• Strategic risk;
• Financial risk; and
• Operational risk.

The definitions of these risk categories are set out on page 28. 

The Risk Management Policy provides a framework for ensuring that risks that could have a significant adverse 
impact on the ability of Charity Bank to meet its objectives are identified, measured, quantified where possible, 
monitored, managed and reported. 

This policy sets out Charity Bank’s risk management system which incorporates: 

• a risk management strategy;
• risk policies;
• risk appetite framework;
• risk measurement and quantification;
• risk processes which enable it to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report the risks it is or to which it might

be exposed;
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Directors’ Report (continued) 

Risk management policy (continued) 

• risk reporting to the Board and to its Committees; and
• specified roles and responsibilities held by staff.

This policy is intended to support appropriate management of risk exposures that is proportionate to the nature, 
scale and complexity of the risks faced by Charity Bank. 

Charity Bank’s risk management framework is key to the assessment by the Board of Charity Bank’s capital adequacy 
requirements in its ICAAP and of its exposure to liquidity risk as evaluated in its ILAAP which are prepared in light of 
its business plans and the risks it faces. 

Liquidity management 

Charity Bank seeks to maintain a sufficient level of available liquidity that will enable it to repay maturing deposits 
as they fall due and to meet drawdowns on loan commitments as they arise. 

The Board has specified Charity Bank’s investment risk appetite and delegated the task of overseeing the policies 
implementing this appetite to the Risk Committee. 

Charity Bank continues to comply with the regulatory requirement to hold a minimum level of investments in assets 
that qualify as HQLAs. A small proportion of Charity Bank’s HQLAs are held in UK treasury gilts which were managed 
by Barclays Bank on behalf of Charity Bank during the period. 

Investment criteria set by Charity Bank guide the investment of its excess funds which continues to follow the 
conservative approach adopted in the past in terms of liquidity, eligible counterparties, maturities and products in 
which such surplus funds can be invested. 

A table summarising responsibilities for different aspects of liquidity management is provided below. 

SUMMARY OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR OVERSIGHT OF LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT 
Policy Day-to-day management

ASSETS

Liquidity investments Risk appetite is set by Board and the policies are set by the Risk 
Committee

Finance Team

Cash at bank 
Loans receivable Lending services 

LIABILITIES

Deposits (CITR scheme) Risk appetite is set by Board and the policies are set by the Risk 
Committee

Savings Team

Deposits (other) 
LIQUIDITY

Liquidity management Risk appetite is set by Board and the policies are set by the Risk 
Committee 

Finance Team

Directors’ indemnity 

Charity Bank has qualifying third party indemnity provisions in its Articles of Association for the benefit of its 
Directors during the year and these remain in force at the date of this report. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 

Equal opportunity and diversity 

Charity Bank is committed to ensuring that all employees, job applicants and workers are treated fairly in an 
environment which is free from any form of discrimination with regard to all nine of the protected characteristics as 
outlined by the Equality Act 2010: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race (which include colour, nationality and ethnic origins), religion and or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation.  

Charity Bank aims to ensure equality of opportunity to all and to provide employees with the opportunity to develop 
and realise their full potential. Charity Bank values diversity and is committed to eliminating unlawful and unfair 
discrimination. Appointment will always be on merit, within relevant legislative and statutory obligations.  

Political and charitable donations 

Charity Bank made no political donations this year (2023 – £nil). £830k of charitable contributions (2023: £40) were 
made during the year to the Brighter Futures Fund. The direct grants made for the LEAP, green lending and cost of 
living programmes are not considered to be donations. 

Employee and other stakeholders involvement 

More information regarding employee and other stakeholder involvement with Charity Bank can be found in the 
strategic report (see page 25). 

Disclosure of information to auditors 

As far as each of the Directors is aware, at the date when this report was approved: 

• there is no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which the company’s auditors
are unaware; and 

• each of the Directors has taken all the steps they ought to have taken as a Director to become aware of any
relevant audit information (as defined) and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that 
information. 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’) has expressed its willingness to continue in office as auditors and a resolution 
to reappoint them will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

The financial statements on pages 49 to 91 were approved by the Board of Directors on 14th April 2025 and 
signed on its behalf. 

Alan Hodson 
Chair 
Fosse House 
182 High Street 
Tonbridge 
Kent 
TN9 1BE 
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Independent auditors’ report to the 
members of The Charity Bank Limited 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Opinion 

In our opinion, The Charity Bank Limited’s financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2024 and of its profit and
cash flows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the balance 
sheet as at 31 December 2024; the statement of comprehensive income, the cash flow statement, the 
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include 
a description of the significant accounting policies. 

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to 
public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard were not provided. 

Other than those disclosed in Note 9, we have provided no non-audit services to the company in the period 
under audit. 

Our audit approach 

Overview 

Audit scope 

• The scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures performed were determined
by our risk assessment.

• We performed audit procedures over relevant business activities of the company, using the materiality levels 
set out above.

Key audit matters 

• Determination of expected credit loss allowance.
Materiality

• Overall materiality: £433,500 (2023: £395,000) based on 1% of Net Assets.
• Performance materiality: £325,000 (2023: £296,250).
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The scope of our audit 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in 
the financial statements. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of 
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the 
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts 
of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures 
thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

The key audit matters below are consistent with last year.  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
Determination of expected credit loss allowance. 

Refer to Note 2 -Accounting policies; Note 14 - 
Loans and advances to customers; Note 25 - 
Impairment (Reversal)/Charge; and Note 28 - 
Financial risk management. 

We understood management’s approach to determining ECL 
allowance.  We performed the following audit procedures to assess 
the methodology and appropriateness of management’s judgments 
and estimates in the context of the current economic uncertainties 
and our wider industry experience. 

The expected credit loss allowance represents 
management’s estimate of expected credit losses 
(‘ECL’) at the balance sheet date. 

We understood and evaluated the design and implementation of 
key controls related to the determination of the ECL allowance. 

The identification and determination of ECL is 
inherently judgmental and the degree of 
estimation is increased as a result of the 
economic uncertainties driven by factors such as 
cost of living increases, higher interest rates and 
higher inflation. Also, the company has limited 
loss experience. 

We engaged our credit specialists in assessing the appropriateness 
of the significant assumptions and methodologies used in the ECL 
calculation.  This included independently reperforming the 
calculation for the model as a whole. 

We performed substantive testing over the following areas with 
assistance from our credit specialists: 

• We assessed the PD rates, which included a review of
the methodology used to set the lifetime and 12-month
default rates used and testing a sample of the underlying
credit scores;

• We performed sensitivity over the LGD assumptions and
tested a sample of the collateral valuations to ensure they
were obtained from an approved valuer and had been
appropriately indexed;

• Assessed the appropriateness of the thresholds used in
determining a significant increase in credit risk; and

• Assessed the reasonableness of both forward looking
assumptions used in the model and whether the
weightings assigned to each scenario  captured the
current economic uncertainty

For a sample of Stage 3 loans, we evaluated the specific 
circumstances of the borrower, post balance sheet date 
developments and whether key judgments were appropriate. We 
reperformed management’s impairment calculations and tested the 
accuracy of key data inputs used to support evidence 
We evaluated whether the credit allowance disclosures made by 
management were compliant with the requirements of IFRS 9 and 
agreed the disclosures to source data. 

The methodology used by the company to 
determine the ECL allowance therefore requires 
a number of assumptions and judgments to be 
made. We believe that those of most significance, 
in terms of both judgmental and material nature, 
are as follows 
● The judgments made by management in
determining the probability of default (‘PD’) and
loss given default (‘LGD’) rates;
● The ‘staging’ thresholds selected by
management to determine a significant increase
in credit risk (‘SICR’), and hence whether a 12
month or lifetime loss provision is recorded;
● The application of forward-looking economic
assumptions used in the model; and
● The measurement of ECL on Stage 3
individually assessed loans.
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How we tailored the audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on 
the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes 
and controls, and the industry in which it operates. 

The company is a stand-alone entity providing banking services in the UK, and with no subsidiaries. The scope 
of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures performed were determined by our risk 
assessment. We performed audit procedures over relevant business activities and using the materiality levels 
set out below. 

The impact of climate risk on our audit 

As a part of our audit we made enquiries of management to understand the process management adopted to 
assess the extent of the potential impact of climate risk on the financial statements and support the 
disclosures made within the financial statements. 

In addition to enquiries with management, we also 

● Evaluated the Company’s qualitative and quantitative risk assessment to consider the impact of our
audit risk assessment.

● Considered the consistency of the disclosures in relation to climate change within the Strategic report
with the financial statements and knowledge obtained from our audit.

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds 
for materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit 
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and 
disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial 
statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as 
follows: 

Overall company 
materiality 

£433,500 (2023: £395,000). 

How we 
determined it 

1% of Net Assets 

Rationale for 
benchmark applied 

We believe that net assets is an appropriate benchmark as a key focus for 
stakeholders is whether the company has sufficient resources to support its 
purpose and business activities. 

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of 
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance 
materiality in determining the scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account 
balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes. Our performance 
materiality was 75% (2023: 75%%) of overall materiality, amounting to £325,000 (2023: £296,250) for the 
company financial statements. 

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, 
risk assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the 
upper end of our normal range was appropriate. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit 
above £43,000 (2023: £39,500) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted 
reporting for qualitative reasons. 
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Conclusions relating to going concern 

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting included: 

• Evaluation of management’s going concern assessment;
• Evaluation of management’s financial forecasts and management’s stress testing of liquidity and

regulatory capital, including the severity of the stress scenarios and assumptions that were used;
• Evaluation of management’s assessment of its liquidity profile and risk;
• Substantiation of cash and other liquid assets held by the company, as well as its access to liquidity

facilities at the Bank of England.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to 
the company's ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 

Reporting on other information 

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion 
or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent 
material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether 
there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these 
responsibilities. 

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required 
by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included. 

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report 
certain opinions and matters as described below. 

Strategic report and Directors' Report 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic 
report and Directors' Report for the year ended 31 December 2024 is consistent with the financial statements 
and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Report. 
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Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such 
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud, is detailed below. 

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations related to the rules of the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential 
Regulatory Authority, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on 
the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the 
financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and 
opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), 
and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journals, and management bias 
in significant accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included: 

• Making enquiries of management and those charged with governance in relation to non-compliance
with laws and regulation and fraud;

• Reviewing key correspondence with the Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation
Authority;

• Assessing assumptions and judgements made by management in in respect of significant accounting
estimates for bias, including in relation to the impairment of loans and advances (see related key audit
matter above);

• Identifying and testing selected journal entries, in particular journal entries posted by senior
management or with unusual account combinations; and

• Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of 
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions 
reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is 
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, 
for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. 

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly 
using data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, 
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rather than testing complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on 
their size or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion 
about the population from which the sample is selected. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. In our 
engagement letter, we also agreed to describe our audit approach, including communicating key audit matters. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this 
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

Other required reporting 
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit

have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Appointment 

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the members on 14 May 2019 
to audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and subsequent financial periods. The 
period of total uninterrupted engagement is 6 years, covering the years ended 31 December 2019 to 
31 December 2024. 

Gareth Amison (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
15 April 2025 

Mobile User
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31st December 2024 2024 2023 

Notes £’000 £’000 
Interest income 4 28,476 24,041 
Interest expense 4 (12,537) (8,026) 
Net interest income 15,939 16,015 
Fee income 5 561 596 
Other operating income 6 260 144 
Net total income 16,760 16,755 
Administrative expenses 7 (9,775) (7,818) 
Depreciation and amortisation 9, 16-18 (391) (412) 
Impairment (charge)/ reversal 25 (4) 465 
Profit before taxation 9 6,590 8,990 
Tax expense 11 (1,649) (1,153) 
Profit after taxation and total comprehensive income for the year 4,941 7,837 

The notes and information on pages 53 to 91 form part of these financial statements. 

All income and expenses are derived from continuing operations. 
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Balance Sheet 
31st Dec 31st Dec 

2024 2023 
Notes £’000 £’000 

Assets 
Cash and balances at banks 12 97,352 91,420 
Financial assets at amortised cost 13 14,859 16,661 
Loans and advances to customers 14 331,101 285,315 
Prepayments 577 407 
Other assets 15 407 497 
Deferred tax asset 11 252 393 
Property and equipment 16 232 41 
Right-of-use asset 17 16 208 
Intangible fixed assets 18 871 1,025 
Total assets 445,667 395,967 

Liabilities 
Customer accounts 19 387,175 342,963 
Deferred income 341 337 
Other liabilities 20 3,609 2,563 
Current tax liability 781 1,546 
Accruals 1,052 675 
Lease liability 17 11 179 
Subordinated debt 21, 24 9,346 8,141 
Total liabilities 402,315 356,404 

Called up share capital 22 16,810 16,621 
Retained earnings 18,610 15,235 
Share premium 7,932 7,707 
Total equity 23 43,352 39,563 
Total liabilities and shareholders' funds 445,667 395,967 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 14th April 2025. 
They were signed on their behalf by: 

Alan Hodson – Director   Jonathan Britton OBE – Director 

Registered company number: 4330018 

The notes and information on pages 53 to 91 form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
Share Retained Share Total 

capital earnings premium equity 
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance attributable to equity shareholders 
as at 1st January 2024 

16,621  15,235 7,707 39,563 

Profit for the year - 4,941 - 4,941 
Other comprehensive income - - - - 
Total comprehensive income - 4,941 - 4,941 
Dividends paid 10 (1,566) - (1,566) 
Total comprehensive income for the year - 3,375 - 3,375 
Capital received 23 189 - 225 414 
Balance attributable to equity shareholders 
as at 31st December 2024 

16,810 18,610 7,932 43,352 

Share Retained Share Total 
capital earnings premium equity 

Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Balance attributable to equity shareholders 
as at 1st January 2023 

15,743 7,398 6,873 30,014 

Profit for the year -  7,837 -  7,837 
Other comprehensive income - - - - 
Total comprehensive income for the year -  7,837 -  7,837 
Capital received 23 878 -  834 1,712  
Balance attributable to equity shareholders 
as at 31st December 2023 

16,621  15,235 7,707 39,563 

The notes and information on pages 53 to 91 form part of these financial statements. 
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Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31st December 2024

2024 2023 
Note £'000 £'000 

Cash flow from operating activities 
Profit before tax 6,590 8,990 

Adjustment to reconcile net profit to cash flow generated from 
operating activities 
Interest expense 12,537 8,026 
Depreciation of property and equipment 45 56 
Amortisation of intangible assets 154 163 
Depreciation of right-of-use asset 192 193 
Movement in impairment (227) (367) 
Corporation tax paid (2,274) - 

17,017 17,061 

Net increase in assets relating to operating activities 
Loans and advances to customers (45,526) (11,550) 
Financial assets 1,811 2,113 
Other assets 93 (139) 
Movement in prepayments (170) (46) 

(43,792) (9,622) 

Net increase in liabilities relating to operating activities 
Due to customers 44,212 29,128 
Interest paid (12,422) (7,961) 
Deferred income 4 21 
Movement in accruals and accrued interest 377 37 
Other liabilities 1,001 (1,903) 

33,172 19,322 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 6,397 26,761 

Cash flow from investing activities 
Acquisition of fixed assets (236) (34) 
Net cash outflow from investing activities (236) (34) 

Cash flow from financing activities 
Principal elements of lease payment (167) (152) 
Proceeds from issue of share capital 400 1,712 
Proceeds from issue of subordinated loan stock 1,170 - 
Interest on subordinated loan stock (80) (65) 
Dividends paid to shareholders (1,552) - 
Net cash (outflow)/ inflow from financing activities (229) 1,495 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,932 28,222 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 12 91,420 63,198 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12 97,352 91,420 

The notes and information on pages 53 to 91 form part of these financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1) Basis of preparation

General information 

Charity Bank is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the 
registered office is given on page 1. The nature of Charity Bank’s operations and its principal activities are set out in 
the Directors’ report. 

Basis of preparation 

The Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2024 have been prepared in accordance 
with UK adopted International accounting standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable 
to companies reporting under those standards. 

Going concern 

The Directors consider that it is appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
the financial statements. As part of this process, the Directors have considered and approved the most recent budget 
including scenario analysis and believe Charity Bank remains a going concern on the basis that it maintains sufficient 
resources and can continue to operate for the foreseeable future. The Directors do not deem there to be any material 
uncertainties with regard to the assessment on going concern. 

Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial assets which are valued 
at amortised cost. 

Significant estimates and critical judgements 

Critical judgements are deemed to relate to how accounting policy is applied whereas estimates relate to 
quantification of amounts within the Annual Report. There are no critical judgements in this regard. The preparation 
of the company’s financial statements requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions 
regarding the impairment of assets (see loan impairment in note 2, sub-section ‘Impairment of loans and advances 
to customers held at amortised cost,’ in note 14 and 25). Sensitivities relating to interest and credit risk are disclosed 
under note 28. The company believes that the estimates utilised in preparing the financial statements are 
reasonable, relevant and reliable. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 

The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost requires assumptions about 
future economic conditions and credit behaviour. More information regarding the ECL and related sensitivities is 
disclosed in note 25 and 28.  

Application of revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) 

In the current year, Charity Bank has applied the following standards and amendments that are effective for an 
accounting period that begins on or after 1st January 2024: 

• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current liabilities with covenants- amendments
to IAS 1; 

• Lease liability in Sale and Leaseback- amendments to IFRS 16; and
• Supplier Finance Arrangements- amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7.
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1        Basis of preparation (continued) 

Application of revised International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) (continued) 

The amendments listed above do not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not 
expected to significantly affect current or future periods. 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 
2024 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by Charity Bank. These standards are not expected to have 
a material impact on Charity Bank in the current or future reporting periods: 

• Amendments to IAS 21- Lack of Exchangeability;
• Amendments to the Classification and Measurements of Financial Instruments- Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS

7; 
• IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures; and
• IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

2) Accounting policies

This note sets out Charity Bank's accounting policies which relate to the financial statements as a whole. All policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless stated otherwise. 

Income recognition 

a) Interest income and expense

Interest income on financial assets and interest expense on financial liabilities are recognised in ‘interest income’ 
and ‘interest expense’ in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using the ‘effective interest rate’ (’EIR’) method. 
Interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount on loans.  

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial 
instrument. The EIR incorporates fees receivable or paid that are an integral part of the yield of an effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. 

All income derives from banking business carried out in the United Kingdom. 

b) Fee income

Fees are accounted for depending on the services to which the income relates to as follows: 

• fees earned on the execution of a significant act are recognised in ‘fee income’ when the performance
obligation (typically the act) is completed; 

• fees earned in respect of services are recognised in ‘fee income’ as the services are provided; and
• fees which form an integral part of the ‘effective interest rate’ of a financial instrument are recognised as an

adjustment to the effective interest rate and recorded in ‘interest income’. 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised in Charity Bank’s balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. All financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. Immediately after initial recognition, an 
ECL is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost. 

All financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed to see if there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. Refer to note 2, subsection "Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at 
amortised cost" providing more detail on the significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) and the factors considered. 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 

i) Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

• Amortised cost; and
• Fair value through profit or loss.

Management determines the classification of financial assets at the time of initial recognition. Re-classification is 
not made between asset classes. 

The classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets depend on: 

i) The business model for managing the asset; and

ii)            The cash flow characteristics of the asset

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where the cash flows solely
represent payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’) and not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised 
cost. The carrying amount of these assets are adjusted by any credit loss allowances recognised. Interest 
income from the financial assets is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using the EIR method. 

• Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the cash flows solely represent payments of principal and interest 
are measured at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (’FVOCI’). 

• Fair value through profit or loss: Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and presented within 
‘Profit/(loss) on derecognition of financial assets measured at FVPL’ in the year in which it arises. 

Business model: The business model reflects how the assets are managed to generate cash flows. That is, if the 
objective is solely to collect contractual cash flows from the assets or collect both contractual cash flows and cash 
flows arising from the sale of assets.  

SPPI: Charity Bank assesses whether the financial asset cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest 
using the SPPI test. 

ii) Impairment

Charity Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its financial assets carried at amortised 
cost and with the exposure arising from loan commitments. A loss allowance is recognised at each reporting date. 
The measurement of ECL reflects: 

• The unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
• The time value of money; and
• Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date

about past events, current conditions and forecast of future economic conditions. 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 

iii) Modification

Charity Bank sometimes renegotiates or modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to borrowers. When this 
happens, Charity Bank assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different from the original terms. 
This is done by considering, but not limited to, the following factors: 

• If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to
amounts the borrower is expected to pay; 

• Whether any substantial new terms are introduced that affect the risk profile of the loan;
• Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty;
• Significant change to the interest rate; and
• Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated

with the loan. 

If the terms are substantially different, the original financial asset is derecognised and Charity Bank recognises a 
‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates a new EIR for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently 
considered to be that date of initial recognition for the impairment calculation purposes, including if there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk.  

Charity Bank also considers if the new financial asset is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, 
considering the factors of the renegotiation.  

If the terms are not substantially different, there is no derecognition and the carrying amount is recalculated. 

iv) Derecognition other than modification

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets have expired. 

Loans and fees receivable 

Loans and fees receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. 

Loans and fees receivable are initially recognised at fair value, including directly attributable transaction costs and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the EIR method, less any expected credit losses. 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost 

Charity Bank’s loan impairments are established to recognise expected impairment losses in its portfolio of loans 
carried at amortised cost. Refer to note 14 and note 28 detailing the loan loss allowance. 

The actual amount of the future cash flows and the date they are received may differ from these estimates and 
consequently actual losses incurred may differ from those recognised in these financial statements. 

In certain cases, Charity Bank may use forbearance measures to assist borrowers experiencing significant financial 
distress. Charity Bank’s policy is to work with borrowers and their boards to seek solutions to their financial 
problems, and to subscribe fully to the six ‘treating customers fairly’ outcomes in its approach to recovery 
management. Experience suggests that borrowers, even those in severe financial difficulties, can often secure grants 
and other funding to overcome such problems; the accessibility to such funding is unique to the social sector. Loan 
rescheduling may be considered on an exceptional basis if considered appropriate by the relevant delegated 
authority. Any forbearance measures agreed are assessed on a case-by-case basis. Forbearance accounts are 
monitored regularly by the Director of Credit and ICC.  
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost (continued) 

A loan will be credit-impaired when there is evidence that events since the loan was granted have affected expected 
cash flows from the loan and the full value of the loan is not considered recoverable. A loan can also be credit-
impaired when the borrower has gone into administration, even if the full value is considered recoverable and will 
be categorised in stage 3. 

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as 
summarised below: 

• A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and its credit risk
is continuously monitored. 

• If a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to
‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired (unless the borrower is Out of Order which is credit 
impaired, they are then classified as ‘Stage 3’). 

• If the financial instrument is credit-impaired or the borrower is Out of Order, the financial instrument is moved
to ‘Stage 3.’ 

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9: 

Significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) 

Charity Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one or 
more of the following quantitative or qualitative criteria have been met: 

• The borrower’s account has been classified as higher risk (being Out of Order, Full Watch List or Internal Watch
List); or 

• The borrower’s credit score has fallen by at least 15% since sanction date (or 31 December 2015, whichever is
later). 

Loans that are 10 business days past-due or more are classified as Out of Order and are included in ‘Stage 3’ 
regardless of whether credit-impaired. 

Definition of default 

A loan will be considered to be ‘non-performing’ or ‘credit impaired’ when it meets our definition of default – that 
is to say, the loan is 10 business days past-due, or the borrower is considered unlikely to repay the loan without 
realisation of collateral. Unlikeliness to pay is assessed through the presence of triggers including a persistent breach 
of debt service cover, severe liquidity concerns, insolvency, loss of a significant contract or revenue streams, or 
significant management/governance issues. 

A loan may also be considered to be non-performing when we have granted full forbearance (capital and interest 
payment holiday) measures. 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(Initial recognition) (Significant increase in credit risk (Credit impaired assets)

since initial recognition)

12-month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses
(including specific provisions)

Change in credit quality since initial recognition
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost (continued) 

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event which defines an asset as ‘non-performing’ or ‘credit 
impaired’. Instead, the combined effect of several events may cause financial assets to become credit impaired. 

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL allowance 

The ECL allowance (collective provisioning) incorporates four forward-looking economic scenarios: 

• Base Case – flat or modest gross domestic product (‘GDP’) growth as inflation picks up due to rising energy
prices and the Autumn budget, resulting in interest rates remaining higher for longer. 

• Upside– moderate GDP growth as inflation and interest rates continue to fall, reducing costs and debt servicing
leading to higher levels of investment and increases in property prices. 

• Downside – mild/moderate recession as small and medium enterprise (‘SME’) margins are squeezed by higher
interest rates to tackle rising inflation and higher costs due to the Autumn budget, resulting in increasing levels 
of unemployment and bankruptcies and modest falls in property prices.  

• Severe Downside – stagflation and/or deep recession with high levels of unemployment and bankruptcies, and
significant falls in property prices.  

The key assumptions adjusted in the scenarios are: 

• Residential non-social housing collateral values and recovery rates (movements affect the LGD value used);
• Social housing collateral values and recovery rates (movements affect the LGD value used);
• Commercial real estate collateral values and recovery rates (movements affect the LGD value used);
• Credit scores (movements impact on the credit grade which determines the PD used. Adverse movements in

the credit score can impact on the staging of the loan – a fall of 15% or more in the credit score since inception 
is a SICR and so a lifetime ECL is applied); 

• Watch list overlay is an added stress applied to the Severe Downside scenario for borrowers with weak credit
grades and a debt service coverage ratio (‘DSCR’) pre-stress defaulting to Internal Watch List, Full Watch List 
or Out of Order. This impacts the PD in the model (Full Watch List and Out of Order accounts default to credit 
grades E and F respectively). Additionally, the overlay can impact on the staging of the loan (Watch List 
accounts are a SICR and so a lifetime ECL is applied); 

• Probability weightings – the aggregate ECL’s for each scenario are probability weighted to give an overall ECL.
The probability weighting reflects the likelihood of the scenario occurring in the next 12 months for each 
scenario (movements in the probability weightings for each scenario will impact on the overall ECL). 

The assumptions for 2024: 

Key Assumptions for Scenarios Base Case Upside Downside Severe Downside 

Residential Non-Social Housing 2.5% 5.0% - (5.0%) 

Social Housing (Residential) 2.7% 3.7% - (5.0%) 

Commercial Property - 7.5% (10.0%) (20.0%) 

Credit Score (10.0%) (5.0%) (15.0%) (25.0%) 

Watch List Overlay No No No Yes 

Probability Weighting 40.0% 10.0% 35.0% 15.0% 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost (continued) 

The assumptions for 2023 as a comparative were: 

Key Assumptions for Scenarios Base Case Upside Downside Severe Downside 

Residential Non-Social Housing (5.0%) (2.5%) (7.5%) (15.0%) 

Social Housing (Residential) 1.1% 3.2% - (5.0%) 

Commercial Property (5.0%) 5.0% (10.0%) (30.0%) 

Credit Score (10.0%) (5.0%) (15.0%) (25.0%) 

Watch List Overlay No No No Yes 

Probability Weighting 40.0% 10.0% 35.0% 15.0% 

The sensitivity analysis below demonstrates the effect of a 100% probability weighting for each scenario - this 
analysis is for the main loan book excluding LEAP (which equates less than 1% of the loan book). The sensitivity 
analysis shows the impact of the DSCR and credit overlay under the Severe Downside scenario which results in 
£437,090 under stage 3 as some borrowers become credit impaired under the Severe Downside scenario. 

The probability weighting sensitivity for 2024: 

Probability Weighting 
Sensitivity 

Collective Provision Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Increase on 
Baseline 

£ £ £ 

Baseline 1,079,464 

Base Case 515,301 59,360 455,941 - (564,163) 

Upside 362,639 48,652 313,987 - (716,825) 

Downside 1,147,140 55,770 1,091,370 - 67,676 

Severe Downside 3,592,388 28,192 3,127,106 437,090 2,512,924 

In addition, sensitivity analysis) is provided below and shows how the impairment number is affected by changes in 
the various components of the calculation on an individual and combined basis. The loan book value used is the 
loans and advances to customers value before impairments. 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment of loans and advances to customers held at amortised cost (continued) 

Increase on Baseline 

Assumption Sensitivity Collective 
Provision £ 

% of Loan 
Book 

Collective 
Provision £ 

% of Loan 
Book 

Baseline 1,079,464 0.33% 

Non-Social Housing Reduce 5% 1,084,955 0.33% 5,491 0.00% 

Reduce 10% 1,104,208 0.34% 24,744 0.01% 

Social Housing Reduce 5% 1,101,909 0.33% 22,445 0.01% 

Reduce 10% 1,128,341 0.34% 48,877 0.01% 

Commercial Reduce 5% 1,204,275 0.37% 124,811 0.04% 

Reduce 10% 1,351,248 0.41% 271,784 0.08% 

Credit score Reduce 5% 1,762,484 0.54% 683,020 0.21% 

Reduce 10% 2,328,261 0.71% 1,248,797 0.38% 

These sensitivities are absolute movements (i.e. an absolute reduction of 5% or 10% for each scenario) and hence 
the probability weighted average for each assumption reduces by 5% or 10%.  For example, the 10% sensitivity for 
the credit scores reduces all the original assumptions by 10%: 

Credit Score Base Case Upside Downside Severe Downside 

Original (10.0%) (5.0%) (15.0%) (25.0%) 

Sensitivity (20.0%) (15.0%) (25.0%) (35.0%) 

The assumptions in the scenarios are based in reference to key macroeconomic indicators such as GDP, 
unemployment and Bank of England base rate. Whilst historically there has not been a correlation between the 
macroeconomic environment and the performance of our loan book, these indicators provide context on the 
operating environment for our borrowers and how material changes in the macroeconomic outlook may impact on 
the assumptions and probability weightings in our scenarios.  

Write off policy 

Charity Bank writes off financial assets in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and 
has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised in Charity Bank’s balance sheet when it becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Charity Bank classifies its financial liabilities as ‘other liabilities’. 

Management determines the classification of financial liabilities at initial recognition. Financial liabilities are initially 
recognised at fair value including directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the ‘effective interest rate’ method. 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions are recognised in respect of present obligations arising from past events where it is probable that outflows 
of resources will be required to settle the obligations and they can be reliably estimated. Contingent liabilities are 
possible obligations whose existence depends on the outcome of uncertain future events or those present 
obligations where the outflows of resources are uncertain or cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are 
not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless they are remote. 

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by Charity Bank are recognised at the date the proceeds are received, net 
of direct issue costs. 

Repurchase of Charity Bank’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in ‘equity’. No gain or loss 
is recognised in ‘profit or loss’ on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of Charity Bank’s own equity instruments. 

Dividends 

Dividends paid on Charity Bank’s ordinary shares are recognised as a reduction in equity in the period in which they 
are paid. 

Fair value 

All financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument on initial 
recognition is normally the transaction price. 

Subsequently, the fair values of financial instruments that are quoted in an active market are based on bid price (for 
assets) and offer price (for liabilities). Where there is no quoted market price in an active market, fair values are 
determined using valuation techniques including discounting future cash flows, option pricing models and other 
methods used by market participants.  

Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the fixed assets over their estimated useful 
life as follows: 

Leasehold improvements 10 years (or lease period if shorter) 

Equipment  3 years 

Right-of-use asset  Term of the lease 

At each balance sheet date, property and equipment are assessed for indications of impairment. 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost, less amortisation and provisions for impairment. The assets are primarily the 
banking system which is amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life. The banking system was 
capitalised during October 2020 and has an estimated useful life of ten years, computer software has been calculated 
as three years, in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash flows. At each balance 
sheet date, intangible assets are assessed for indications of impairment. 
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Leases 

A lease is recognised as a right-of-use asset with a corresponding lease liability at the date at which the leased asset 
is available for use. The asset and liability arising from the lease are measured on a present value basis of future 
lease payments. Lease payments are discounted using an interest rate implicit in the lease.  

Payments associated with short-term leases or leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as 
an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Taxation 

A tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 
or directly in Equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in Other Comprehensive Income or directly in Equity, 
respectively. 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. Charity Bank’s liability 
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of the 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Recognition of both 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax is reviewed on an annual basis at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities and there is an intention to 
settle the balances on a net basis. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realised. 

Pension costs 

Charity Bank made contributions to TPT Retirement Solutions in respect of the defined contribution personal 
pension arrangements. One of the schemes offered historically by the TPT Retirement Solutions, the Growth Plan 
series 3, offered guarantees to its members as to capital and pensions and is, therefore, considered to be a defined 
benefit scheme based on a change in legislation in 2014. Only a few employees are still members of that scheme, 
which is now closed, but as a participating employer, Charity Bank may be liable to fund any shortfalls in the scheme 
if it decides to withdraw from the scheme. As advised by the TPT Retirement Solutions, Charity Bank’s default liability 
on withdrawal from the scheme amounted to £16,260 at 30th September 2023. This was based on the latest actuarial 
valuation of employer’s liability.  

Charity Bank is not required to make deficit contributions but is planning on looking into the withdrawal from this 
scheme, an accrual has been raised at the balance sheet date and is included in ‘Other pension costs’.  
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2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Pension costs (continued) 

Charity Bank appointed Standard Life as its pension provider from 1 October 2024 and all current members at the 
time were transferred from TPT to Standard Life on the Pension Salary Exchange Arrangement. Final payments were 
made to TPT up to the end of September 2024. At this point, Charity Bank increased their maximum employee 
matching contributions from 11.33% to 11.5% and employee contributions were reduced from 5.67% to 5.5%. Whilst 
the total maximum contribution from the Bank is now 11.5%, employees have the option to increase their 
contributions above 5.5%.  

The amount charged in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of pension costs is the contribution 
payable in the year and includes an accrual for the potential withdrawal. Differences between contributions payable 
and the year-end contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet. 

Cash and balances at banks 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and demand deposits with banks. 

Capital instruments 

Charity Bank classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified as a liability if it is a 
contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 
on potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as equity if it evidences a residual interest in the assets 
of Charity Bank after the deduction of liabilities. The components of a compound financial instrument issued by 
Charity Bank are classified and accounted for separately as financial liabilities or equity as appropriate. 

Subordinated debt 

Subordinated debt is recognised at amortised cost. In the event of Charity Bank’s liquidation before the loans mature, 
the repayment of subordinated debt and outstanding interest will rank behind ordinary creditors. 

LEAP programme 

The LEAP lending programme launched in 2023. The first tranche of grant income was received in December 2022 
which includes equity and grant income.  

The operating grant covers the operating costs associated with starting the programme and its delivery. This grant 
is initially recognised on the balance sheet and released on a systematic basis and recognised as ‘Other operating 
income.’ 

The direct grant is to be disbursed by Charity Bank to LEAP programme borrowers. These small grants will 
complement programme lending by funding expenditure with no clear source of repayment and/or improving loan 
affordability.  

This grant may also be used to support investment readiness work and encourage applications that meet programme 
objectives on social impact and diversity. This grant is recognised on the balance sheet and is released when the 
grant is paid. 

The first loss grant is to provide coverage for the LEAP loan portfolio to offset the programmes ECL and any future 
bad debt write offs. This grant is initially recognised on the balance sheet and released against the ECL calculated for 
the programme monthly and recognised in the ‘Impairment charge/ (reversal)’ note. 
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3) Segmental reporting

In the opinion of the Directors, Charity Bank carries on one principal class of business, banking, and operates almost 
entirely within one geographical segment, the United Kingdom. Deposits are drawn from throughout the United 
Kingdom together with a small amount of funds from abroad. Charity Bank lends in every region of the United 
Kingdom. 

4) Net interest income

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Interest income 
Loans and advances to customers 23,616 20,821 
Cash and balances at banks 4,803 3,156 
Financial assets at amortised cost 57 64 

28,476 24,041 

2024 2023 
£’000 £'000 

Interest expense and similar charges 
Due to customers 12,413 7,941 
Debt issued 115 65 
Lease liability 9 20 

12,537 8,026 

The interest income of £57k from Financial assets at amortised cost relates to the UK Treasury stock. The total 
interest income of £28.5m is calculated using the EIR method and relates to income from all financial assets 
measured at amortised cost. 

5) Fee income

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Arrangement fees on loans that did not proceed 27 33 
Non-utilisation fees 534 563 

561 596 

6) Other operating income

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Commission from the Reach Fund (Access- The Foundation for Social 
Investment) 

23 15 

Miscellaneous income and fees 9 3 
Operating grant for LEAP programme 138  126 
Operating grant for Cost of Living programme 52 - 
Operating grant for Green Lending programme 38 - 

260 144 
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7) Administrative expenses

2024 2023 
Average monthly number of employees 82 77 

£'000 £'000 
Wages and salaries 4,845 4,276 
Social security costs 555 506 
Other pension costs 490 403 
Other staff costs 372 409 
Total staff costs 6,262 5,594 
Other administrative expenses 2,683 2,224 
Contribution to BFF 830 - 

9,775 7,818 

Total number of employees at 31st December 2024 was 83 (of which 81 were permanent and includes employees 
on fixed-term contracts) and at 31st December 2023 there were 78 (of which 75 were permanent). Full-time 
equivalents at 31st December 2024 were 80 and at 31st December 2023 were 71. 

This difference is due to the fact that employees who were previously considered part-time moved to a 32-hour 
week contract when we moved to a 4-day working week (32 hours per week) permanently on 1 January 2024. 

Employee emoluments 

The number of staff whose annualised emoluments exceeded £60,000 as at 31st December 2024 and at 31st 
December 2023 were as follows:  

2024 2023 
Number Number 

£60,001 - £70,000 11 6 
£70,001 - £80,000 8 8 
£80,001 - £90,000 5 5 
£90,001 - £100,000 4 4 
£100,001 - £110,000 3 - 
£110,001 - £120,000 1 2 
£120,001 - £130,000 3 2 
£130,001 - £140,000 1 1 
£140,001 - £150,000 1 - 
£150,001 - £160,000 - - 
£160,001 - £170,000 - - 
£170,001 - £180,000 1 1 
£180,001 - £190,000 - - 
£190,001 - £200,000 1 - 

39 29 

Employees 

The Directors consider the mission of Charity Bank will be best achieved if the staff work together as a team and that 
the reward structure should reflect this. The current ratio between the highest and lowest paid member of staff is 
seven times (2023: six and a half times). Pension contributions were made to TPT Retirement solutions until 
September 2024 and then the new provider Standard Life from 1 October 2024 in respect of employees and directors 
included above. 
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7 Administrative expenses (continued) 

Directors 

In 2024, four Non-Executive Directors (2023: 4) were reimbursed expenses totalling £9.1k (2023: £986), relating 
primarily to attendance fees for board meetings and reimbursement of travel expenses. Emoluments are not paid 
to Non-Executive Directors.  

Directors’ remuneration 

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Directors' emoluments 310 299 
Contribution to a defined contribution pension scheme 55 37 
Medical insurance 14  12 

379 348 

The highest paid director during the year received a total remuneration package of £219k (2023: £202k). Two 
Executive Directors received pension benefits in the year to 31 December 2024 (2023: two). Directors do not receive 
any share options and no share options were awarded under long term incentive plans. 

Key management personnel 

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Emoluments 1,029 1,010 
Contribution to a defined contribution pension scheme 230 117 
Medical insurance 28  25 

1,287 1,152 

Key management personnel comprise the Board of Directors and all members of the EXCO. 

Loans and deposit accounts are held by members of the Board and Key Management Personnel. All loans are in the 
form of staff loans and total £4k (2023: £6k) and are unsecured.  

Deposits held by key management personnel total £16k (2023: £20k) and subordinated debt held by members of 
the Board is £302k (2023: £401k). Deposits held by related parties comprise those held by connected individuals to 
Charity Bank are £74k (2023: £106k) and deposits held by connected entities are £14.8m (2023: £10.4m). 

Auditors remuneration has been disclosed in note 9. 

8) Pension costs

Charity Bank operates a defined contribution pension scheme for staff. Charity Bank contributed £490k during the 
year (2023: £403k). This amount forms part of total staff costs recorded under administrative expenses. There was 
a £80k (2023: £nil) outstanding contributions at the balance sheet date.  

Refer to pension costs under note 2 for additional details of the defined benefit scheme. 
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9) Profit before taxation

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Depreciation - property and equipment 45 56 
Depreciation - right-of-use asset 192 193 
Amortisation - intangible assets 154 163 

391 412 
Auditors' remuneration: 
- audit of annual financial statements 209  199 
- audit-related assurance services 4  4 

213 203 

10) Dividends

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Ordinary shares 
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 of 5p 1,566 - 
per fully paid share 

1,566 -

The proposed dividends will be considered based on the 2024 profits, and if appropriate approved by the 
shareholders at the AGM to be held in June 2025, refer to note 29 for more information. 

11) Tax expense

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Current tax  
Current year- corporation tax 1,508 1,546 
Deferred tax 
Current year  141 604 
Previously unrecognised deferred tax asset - (997) 
Tax charge for the year 1,649 1,153 

Factors Affecting Total Tax Charge for the Current Year 

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the Statement of Comprehensive Income as follows: 

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Profit before taxation- continuing activities 6,590 8,990 

Tax on profit at standard UK tax rate of 25% (2023: 23.5%) 1,648 2,115 
Effects of: 

 Expenses not deductible 1 - 
 Rate differences - 35 
 Previously unrecognised deferred tax asset - (997) 

Tax charge for the year 1,649 1,153 
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11 Tax expense (continued) 

Deferred tax asset 

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Recognised deferred tax asset 
Carried forward tax losses 232 318 
Accelerated capital allowances 2 61 
IFRS change in basis adjustment (10) 14 
Short-term temporary differences 28  - 

252 393 
Deferred tax rate 25% 25% 

A deferred tax asset has been recognised in the balance sheet, these assets are only recognised to the extent that 
future taxable profits are probable. 

12) Cash and balances at banks

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Cash in hand 7,666 8,328 
Short-term balances with other banks 89,692 83,101 
Less expected credit loss (6) (9) 

97,352 91,420 

The Bank of England reserve account balance at 31st December 2024 was £90m (2023: £83m) and included in the 
‘Short-term balances with other banks’ line above. 

13) Financial assets

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Financial assets at amortised cost 
UK Treasury Stock 14,868 16,679 
Less expected credit loss (9) (18) 

14,859 16,661 
Maturity: 
- less than three months - - 
- one year or less but over three months - 1,843 
- between one year and five years 14,868 14,836 
Less expected credit loss (9) (18) 

14,859 16,661 

UK Treasury stock has been classified as amortised cost and is held to meet regulatory liquidity requirements for 
HQLAs. 
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14) Loans and advances to customers

Performing Impaired Performing Impaired 
loans loans Total loans loans Total 

31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 
2024 2024 2024 2023 2023 2023 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Remaining maturity: 
- three months or less
excluding on demand or 
at short notice 

13 100 113  1 -  1

- one year or less but
over three months 

2,590 98 2,688  1,437 37 1,474 

- five years or less but
over one year 

9,174 237 9,411  6,757 98 6,855 

- over five years 310,989 9,292 320,281   277,263 1,374  278,637
322,766 9,727 332,493 285,458 1,509 286,967 

Less allowance for 
impairment 

(972) (420) (1,392)  (1,286) (366)  (1,652)

321,794 9,307 331,101 284,172 1,143 285,315 

As at 31st December 2024, Charity Bank had advanced variable and managed rate loans amounting to £306.7m (31st 
December 2023: £268.1m) and fixed rate loans amounting to £25.8m (31st December 2023: £18.8m) to customers. 
£52.1k was the balance granted as staff loans (31st December 2023: £46.0k). Revolving loan facilities were introduced 
in 2023, the balance at 31st December 2024 of £297k is included in variable rate loans (31st December 2023: £360k). 

Total credit impaired loans and advances to customers amounted to £9.7m (31st December 2023: £1.5m), within 
which an allowance for specific impairment of £420k (31st December 2023: £366k) was included. 

15) Other assets

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Bank placements 1 - 
Fees receivable 247 284 
Less expected credit loss (4) (7) 
Sundry debtors 7 - 
Interest receivable 156 220 

407 497 
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16) Property and equipment

Leasehold 
Equipment improvements Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost 
At 1st January 2024 591 213 804 
Additions 236 - 236 
At 31st December 2024 827 213 1,040 

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1st January 2024 550 213 763 
Charged in year 45 - 45 
At 31st December 2024 595 213 808 

Net book value 
At 31st December 2024 232 - 232 

Leasehold 
Equipment improvements Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost 
At 1st January 2023 557 213 770 
Additions 34 - 34 
At 31st December 2023 591 213 804 

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1st January 2023 494 213 707 
Charged in year 56 - 56 
At 31st December 2023 550 213 763 

Net book value 
At 31st December 2023 41 - 41 
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17) Right-of-use asset

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Right-of-use asset 
Building 16 208 

Lease liability 
Current 11 164 
Non-current - 15 

11 179 
Maturity: 
- less than three months 11 37 
- one year or less but over three months - 127 
- between one year and five years - 15 

11 179 

The total cash outflow for the lease liability in 2024 was £167k (2023: £152k). Depreciation for right-of-use asset is 
disclosed in note 9 and interest on the lease liability is in note 4.  

The liability is measured as the present value of future lease payments discounted using the incremental borrowing 
rate (which was 7.75% at year-end). The asset is measured at cost comprising of the amount of the initial 
measurement of the lease liability and the restoration costs. Charity Bank is exposed to potential future increases in 
the lease payments, when this occurs the lease liability will be reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 

Lease payments are allocated between principal and interest expense. The interest expense is charged to the profit 
and loss over the lease period. 

18) Intangible fixed assets

Computer software 
£’000 

Cost 
At 1st January 2024 1,937 
Additions - 
At 31st December 2024 1,937 

Accumulated amortisation 
At 1st January 2024 912 
Charged in year 154 
At 31st December 2024 1,066 

Net book value 
At 31st December 2024 871 
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18 Intangible fixed assets (continued) 

Computer software 
£’000 

Cost 
At 1st January 2023 1,937 
Additions - 
At 31st December 2023 1,937 

Accumulated amortisation 
At 1st January 2023 749 
Charged in year 163 
At 31st December 2023 912 

Net book value 
At 31st December 2023 1,025 

19)  Customer accounts

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice by remaining 
maturity: 
- three months or less 192,956  168,732 
- one year or less, but over three months 134,479  126,943 
- more than one year but less than five years 59,740  47,288 

387,175 342,963 

20) Other liabilities

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Social security and other taxes 478 396 
Cash collateral 1,178 1,048 
Credit loss allowance on commitments 242 197 
Other payables 67 19 
Operating grant for LEAP programme - 34 
Operating grant for Green lending programme 13 - 
Direct grant for LEAP programme 24 104 
Direct grant for Cost of living programme 75 - 
Direct grant for Green lending programme 684 - 
First loss grant for LEAP programme 848 765 

3,609 2,563 

Cash collateral held is in the form of deposits received from loan borrowers. 

An expected credit loss charge has been raised on commitments in accordance with IFRS 9. Refer to note 26 for the 
commitments balance at 31st December 2024. The expected credit loss on commitments has been included in the 
‘Expected credit loss’ in note 25. 
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20 Other liabilities (continued) 

During December 2022, the first tranche for the LEAP programme was received from Access- The Foundation for 
Social Investment. Refer to note 6 for the income recognised relating to the operating grant. 

21) Subordinated debt

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Principal 9,305 8,135 
Accrued Interest 41  6 

9,346 8,141 
Maturity: 
- less than three months 116 6 
- one year or less but over three months -  4,750 
- between one year and five years 9,230  3,385 

9,346 8,141 

In the event of Charity Bank’s liquidation before the loans mature, the repayment of subordinated debt and 
outstanding interest will rank behind ordinary creditors. 

22) Called up share capital

31st Dec 31st Dec 
Number of 2024 Number of 2023 

shares £’000 shares £’000 
Authorised, issued, allotted and fully paid 
Ordinary shares of £0.50 each 33,620,508 16,810 33,242,775 16,621 

33,620,508 16,810 33,242,775 16,621 

Number of Share Share 
shares capital premium 

£’000 £’000 
At 31st December 2024 33,620,508 16,810 7,932 

At 31st December 2023 33,242,775 16,621 7,707 

A dividend of £1.6m was paid in June 2024 (2023: £nil). 

All of the issued ordinary shares are equity shares. 

Ordinary shares carry one vote each up to a maximum of 49.9%. Any excess votes over and above the 49.9% are 
reapportioned across the remaining voting shares. They entitle the holder to share in the proceeds of winding up 
the company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 
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23) Total equity

At 1st 2024 Profit for At 31st 
Jan 2024 the year Dec 2024 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Called-up share capital 
  Fully paid ordinary shares 16,621 189 - 16,810 
Retained earnings 
  Capital contribution 14,478 - - 14,478 
  Accumulated profit 757 - 3,375 4,132 
Total equity shareholders' funds 31,856 189 3,375 35,420 
Share premium 7,707 225 - 7,932 
Total equity shareholders' funds 39,563 414 3,375 43,352 

During 2024, additional share capital of £414k was received for cash consideration, the balance of new share capital 
was in lieu of a dividend for one shareholder who took up the option provided. 

At 1st 2023 Profit for At 31st 
Jan 2023 the year Dec 2023 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Called-up share capital 
  Fully paid ordinary shares  15,743 878 -  16,621 
Retained earnings 
  Capital contribution  14,478 - -  14,478 
  Accumulated loss (7,080) - 7,837 757 
Total equity shareholders' funds 23,141 878 7,837 31,856 
Share premium 6,873 834 - 7,707 
Total equity shareholders' funds  30,014 1,712 7,837  39,563 

24) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities

The table below details changes in Charity Bank’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. 

1st Jan Cash Non-cash 31st Dec 
2024 changes changes  2024 

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Lease liability 17 179 (176) 8 11 
Subordinated debt 21 8,141 1,205 - 9,346 

8,320 1,029 8 9,357 

1st Jan Cash Non-cash 31st Dec 
2023 changes changes  2023 

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Lease liability 17 335 (172) 16 179 
Subordinated debt 21 8,141 - - 8,141 

8,476 (172)  16  8,320
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25) Expected credit loss

Impairment release/ (charge)

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Cash and balances at banks 3 (3) 
Financial assets 9 (2) 
Loans and advances to customers 10 65 
Other assets 3  - 
Loan commitments (45) 305 
First loss grant release for LEAP programme 16 100 

(4) 465 

Closing balance of expected credit loss 

2024 2023 
£’000 £’000 

Cash and balances at banks 6 9 
Financial assets 9 18 
Loans and advances to customers 1,392 1,652 
Other assets 4 7 
Loan commitments 242 197 

1,653 1,883 

Refer to note 28 for more information on the ECL movement during the year and closing balances. 

26) Contingent liabilities and commitments

a) Legal issue- contingent liability

At 31st December 2024, there were no pending legal cases or other issues in progress which might have a material 
impact on the financial statements of Charity Bank (2023: £nil). 

b) Off- balance sheet liabilities

31st Dec 31st Dec 
2024 2023 

£’000 £’000 
Loan commitments 
Undrawn irrevocable loan commitments 48,831 53,230 

Commitments comprise of amounts yet to be drawn under loan offers or agreements issued to borrowing customers 
or where formalities, for example, completion of security arrangements, have yet to be finalised. Refer to note 20 
where an impairment has been raised for the expected credit loss on commitments in accordance with IFRS 9. 
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27) Related party transactions

Directors’ and Key Management Personnel emoluments and transactions are disclosed in note 7. 

Loans made in partnership with The Better Society Capital Limited total £10.8m (8 loans with 8 borrowers) (2023: 
£11.9m, 8 loans with 8 borrowers). Commitments relating to the partnership with The Better Society Capital Limited 
total £4.3m (2023: £300k). Charity Bank loans made in partnership are treated as other loans recorded in the loan 
portfolio earning interest in the same calculation and subject to the same risks and considerations.  

28) Financial risk management

Interest rate risk 

A robust understanding of the drivers and manifestation of the various interest rate risks to which Charity Bank is 
exposed is required to facilitate good risk management, supervision and potentially capital adequacy. 

The following tables show the interest rate profiles of assets and liabilities, demonstrating the exposures to a change 
in rate. 

As at 31st Dec 2024 Next 
day  

Up to 3 
mths  

3 – 6 
mths  

6 mths to 
1 year  

1 – 5 
years  

Over 5 
years  

No 
specific 

repricing 

Total 

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Assets 

Cash and balances 
at banks 

97,352 - - - - - - 97,352 

Financial assets - (9) - - 14,868 - - 14,859 

Loans and advances 
to customers 

302,127 3,932 426 3,605 21,011 - - 331,101

Prepayments and 
other assets 

- - - - - - 1,236 1,236 

Right-of-use asset - - - - - - 16 16 

Property and 
equipment 

- - - - - - 232 232 

Intangible fixed 
assets 

- - - - - - 871 871 

399,479 3,923 426 3,605 35,879 - 2,355 445,667

Liabilities 

Customer accounts 65,806 123,586 69,294 65,185 59,740 - 3,564 387,175

Accruals & deferred 
income 

- - - - - - 1,393 1,393 

Lease liability - - - - - - 11 11 

Other liabilities - 2,888 781 - - - 721 4,390 

Subordinated debt - 75 - - 9,230 - 41 9,346 

Shareholder's funds - - - - - - 43,352 43,352 

65,806 126,549 70,075 65,185 68,970 - 49,082 445,667

Interest rate  

   sensitivity gap 333,673 (122,626) (69,649) (61,580) (33,091) - (46,727) 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Interest rate risks (continued) 

As at 31st Dec 2023 Next 
day  

Up to 3 
mths  

3 – 6 
mths  

6 mths to 
1 year  

1 – 5 
years  

Over 5 
years  

No 
specific 

repricing 

Total 

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Assets 

Cash and balances 
at banks 

91,420 - - - - - - 91,420 

Financial assets - (18) - 1,843 14,836 - - 16,661 

Loans and advances 
to customers 

262,632 3,835 748 838 17,262 -  -  285,315

Prepayments and 
other assets 

- - - - - - 1,297 1,297 

Right-of-use asset - - - - - - 208 208 

Property and 
equipment 

- - - - - - 41 41 

Intangible fixed 
assets 

- - - - - - 1,025 1,025 

354,052 3,817 748 2,681 32,098 -  2,571  395,967

Liabilities 

Customer accounts 58,252 108,125 73,844 53,100 47,287 -  2,355  342,963

Accruals & deferred 
income 

- - - - - - 1,012 1,012 

Lease liability - - - - - - 179 179 

Other liabilities - 1,970 1,546 - - - 593 4,109 

Subordinated debt - - 650 4,100 3,385 - 6 8,141 

Shareholder's funds - - - - - - 39,563 39,563 

58,252 110,095 76,040 57,200 50,672 -  43,708  395,967

Interest rate  

   sensitivity gap 295,800 (106,278) (75,292) (54,519) (18,574)  - (41,137) 

The majority of Charity Bank’s loan portfolio is made up of variable rate loans that are linked to the Bank of England 
base rate, with the interest rate updating in line with base rate changes- this also includes revolving loans. The 
remainder of the loan book is split between a small portfolio of fixed rate loans and a legacy run-off portfolio of 
managed loans, whereby the rate can be changed by giving 90 days’ notice to its customers.  

Charity Bank has the option to change the deposit rate paid on the customer accounts with variable rate products 
by giving 14 days’ notice to its savings customers. Customer deposit accounts included in the next day profile relate 
to Easy Access accounts. 

For loans and advances, if base rate were to fall by 0.25%, the main group of loans that would be impacted are 
variable rate loans. The impact would be a reduction in interest received income of £831k p.a. (2023: £717k). There 
would be no impact on the income stream from fixed loans. 

For Charity Bank’s customer deposit accounts, if there were an increase in base rate, management would review 
Charity Bank’s rates and take appropriate action. For every 0.25% increase in Deposit Rate, the interest paid would 
increase by £485k based on the customer accounts open at 31st December 2024 (2023: £448k). 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Credit risk 

Charity Bank is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that counterparties will not be able to meet their obligations 
as they fall due. Charity Bank is exposed to both credit risk through loans and advances to its customers, and 
wholesale credit risk from its treasury operations.  

Charity Bank uses collateral to mitigate against credit risk. Within loans and advances to customers, non-cash 
collateral is in the form of residential and commercial property. Collateral is independently valued on origination of 
the loan unless the loan to value of the collateral is less than 33.3% or for other exceptional reasons, in which case 
an informal valuation or estimate is accepted. The collateral is reviewed annually using indices or independently 
revalued in accordance with Charity Bank’s Credit Risk Policy. 

Some cash collateral is held by Charity Bank against a small proportion of its drawn loans. For 2024 this equated to 
0.4% of the total loans and advances to customers (2023: 0.4%). 

The main credit risk sensitivities on loans and advances for the main loan book for Charity Bank are as follows: 

• probability of default: a decrease in the internal credit score of 10% of all borrowers would result in an increase
in the collective provision of £991k; and 

• loss given default: a decrease in the value of security of 5% across all loans would result in an increase in the
collective provision of £119k, 10% would increase the collective provision by £260k. 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Expected credit loss measurement 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposures of financial assets for which an ECL allowance is 
recognised. 

2024 2023 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total 

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cash and 
balances at 
banks 

Gross carrying 
amount 

97,358 - - 97,358 91,429 

Expected credit 
loss 

(6) - - (6) (9) 

Carrying 
amount 

97,352 - - 97,352 91,420 

Financial assets Gross carrying 
amount 

14,868 - - 14,868 16,679 

Expected credit 
loss 

(9) - - (9) (18) 

Carrying 
amount 

14,859 - - 14,859 16,661 

Loans and 
advances to 
customers 

Gross carrying 
amount 

199,922 122,844 9,727 332,493 286,967 

Expected credit 
loss 

(102) (870) (420) (1,392)  (1,652) 

Carrying 
amount 

199,820 121,974 9,307 331,101 285,315 

Other assets Gross carrying 
amount 

411 - - 411 504 

Expected credit 
loss 

(4) - - (4) (7) 

Carrying 
amount 

407 - - 407 497 

Loan 
commitments 

Gross carrying 
amount 

36,643 11,988 200 48,831 53,230 

Expected credit 
loss 

(24) (218) - (242)  (197) 

Carrying 
amount 

36,619 11,770 200 48,589 53,033 

Loss allowance 

The loss allowance recognised in the year is impacted by many factors, as described below: 

• Transfers between Stages 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant increases
(or decrease) of credit risk with a consequent of a ‘step up’ (or ‘step down’) between 12-month and lifetime 
ECL; 

• Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the year as well as releases for financial
instruments derecognised in the year; 

• Impact on the measurement of the ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the year from regularly
refreshing the assumptions applied; 

• Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions; and
• Financial assets derecognised during the year and write-offs of allowances related to assets that were

derecognised during the year. 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

The table on the following page explains the change in the loss allowance and gross carrying amount between the 
beginning and end of the year due to these factors: 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Loans and advances to customers 
impairment 

12-month
ECL 

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Expected credit loss at 1st Jan 2024 82 1,204 366 1,652 
Loans drawn and recognised 18 153 12 183 
Loans repaid and derecognised (19) (21) - (40) 
Write-offs - - (250) (250) 
Change in credit risk and model 55 (568) 360 (153) 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 197 (197) - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (231) 231 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - 68 (68) - 
Other movements - - - - 
Expected credit loss as at 31st Dec 2024 102 870 420 1,392 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Loans and advances to customers 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Loans and advances to customers at 1st Jan 
2024 

172,112 113,183 1,672 286,967 

Loans drawn and recognised 45,156 22,870 1,938 69,964 
Loans repaid and derecognised (29,799) (16,295) (1,091) (47,185) 
Interest charged 13,969 8,972 701 23,642 
Write-offs - - (250) (250) 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 22,106 (22,106) - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (23,100) 23,100 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 (107) (6,651) 6,758 - 
Other movements (415) (229) (1) (645) 
Loans and advances to customers at 31st 
Dec 2024 

199,922 122,844 9,727 332,493 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Loans and advances to customers 
impairment 

12-month
ECL 

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Expected credit loss at 1st Jan 2023 227 952 538 1,717 
Loans drawn and recognised 42 264 - 306 
Loans repaid and derecognised (13) (107) - (120) 
Write-offs - - - - 
Change in credit risk and model (139) 60 (172) (251) 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 163 (163) - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (198) 198 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 
Other movements - - - - 
Expected credit loss as at 31st Dec 2023 82 1,204 366 1,652 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Loans and advances to customers 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Loans and advances to customers at 1st Jan 
2023 

177,047 96,664 1,706 275,417 

Loans drawn and recognised 27,260 26,271 - 53,531 
Loans repaid and derecognised (44,915) (16,936) (389) (62,240) 
Interest charged 13,022 7,687 112 20,821 
Write-offs - - - - 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 28,965 (28,965) - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (28,707) 28,707 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 (243) - 243 - 
Other movements (317) (245) - (562) 
Loans and advances to customers at 31st 
Dec 2023 

172,112 113,183 1,672 286,967 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Non lending financial assets impairment 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Expected credit loss at 1st Jan 2024 34 - - 34 
Financial assets purchased and recognised 1 - - 1 
Financial assets sold and derecognised (2) - - (2) 
Change in credit risk (14) - - (14) 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 
Expected credit loss as at 31st Dec 2024 19 - - 19 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Non lending financial assets 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Non lending financial assets at 1st Jan 2024 108,612 - - 108,612 
Financial assets purchased and recognised 6,799 - - 6,799 
Financial assets sold and derecognised (2,774) - - (2,774) 
Change in credit risk - - - - 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 
Non lending financial assets at 31st Dec 
2024 

112,637 - - 112,637 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Non lending financial assets impairment 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Expected credit loss at 1st Jan 2023 29 - - 29 
Financial assets purchased and recognised 3 - - 3 
Financial assets sold and derecognised (2) - - (2) 
Change in credit risk 4 - - 4 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 
Expected credit loss as at 31st Dec 2023 34 - - 34 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Non lending financial assets 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Non lending financial assets at 1st Jan 2023 82,361 - - 82,361 
Financial assets purchased and recognised 31,480 - - 31,480 
Financial assets sold and derecognised (5,229) - - (5,229) 
Change in credit risk - - - - 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 - - - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 
Non lending financial assets at 31st Dec 
2023 

108,612 - - 108,612 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Commitments impairment 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Expected credit loss at 1st Jan 2024 32 165 - 197 
Commitments approved and recognised 23 199 - 222
Commitments drawn and derecognised (74) (75) (1) (150)
Change in credit risk and model (21) 13 (2) (10) 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 74 (74) - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (4) 4 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 (3) - 3 - 
Other movements - - - - 
Commitments not proceeding (3) (14) - (17) 
Expected credit loss as at 31st Dec 2024 24 218 - 242

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Commitments 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Commitments at 1st Jan 2024 32,189 21,041 - 53,230 
Commitments approved and recognised 24,485 10,502 - 34,987
Commitments drawn and derecognised  (21,751) (14,829) - (36,580)
Change in credit risk and model - - - - 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 4,139 (4,139) - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (244) 244 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 (150) (50) 200 - 
Other movements - - - - 
Commitments not proceeding (2,025) (781) - (2,806) 
Commitments at 31st Dec 2024 36,643 11,988 200 48,831 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Loss allowance (continued) 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Commitments impairment 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Expected credit loss at 1st Jan 2023 177 326 - 503 
Commitments approved and recognised 42 224 -  266
Commitments drawn and derecognised (152) (299) -  (451)
Change in credit risk and model (86) 5 - (81) 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 100 (100) - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (39) 39 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 
Other movements - - - - 
Commitments not proceeding (10) (30) - (40) 
Expected credit loss as at 31st Dec 2023 32 165 -  197

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Commitments 12-month

ECL 
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Commitments at 1st Jan 2023 31,972 20,534 - 52,506 
Commitments approved and recognised 25,366 19,459 -  44,825
Commitments drawn and derecognised  (25,633) (13,874) -  (39,507)
Change in credit risk and model - - - - 
Transfer between stages 
- Transfer to Stage 1 4,931 (4,931) - - 
- Transfer to Stage 2 (1,349) 1,349 - - 
- Transfer to Stage 3 - - - - 
Other movements - - - - 
Commitments not proceeding (3,098) (1,496) - (4,594) 
Commitments at 31st Dec 2023 32,189 21,041 - 53,230 

Other movements comprise of arrangement and legal fees being transferred to the carrying value of the loans. 

Credit risk by asset class (continued) 

As at 31st Dec 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Loans and advances to customers at 
amortised cost 

12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Good quality 179,279 88,791 1,978 270,048 
Satisfactory quality 20,494 33,143 - 53,637 
Lower quality 149 910 5,923 6,982 
Below standard - - 1,826 1,826 
Gross carrying amount 199,922 122,844 9,727 332,493 
Expected credit loss (102) (870) (420) (1,392) 
Carrying amount 199,820 121,974 9,307 331,101 
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Credit risk by asset class (continued) 

As at 31st Dec 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Non lending financial assets 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Investment grade accounts 112,637 - - 112,637 
Non investment grade accounts - - - - 
Impaired - - - - 
Gross carrying amount 112,637 - - 112,637 
Expected credit loss (19) - - (19) 
Carrying amount 112,618 - - 112,618 

As at 31st Dec 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Commitments 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Good quality 32,758 9,015 - 41,773 
Satisfactory quality 2,895 2,943 - 5,838 
Lower quality 990 30 200 1,220 
Below standard - - - - 
Gross carrying amount 36,643 11,988 200 48,831 
Expected credit loss (24) (218) - (242) 
Carrying amount 36,619 11,770 200 48,589 

Charity Bank uses an internal credit grading method considering financial, quality of income, qualitative and general 
factors. 

The table below categorises the levels of credit risk, this is determined separately for each asset. 

Credit risk Internal credit grading Investment grading 
Good quality A, B1, B2 Investment grade 

Satisfactory quality C1, C2 Non-Investment grade 
Lower quality D, E 

Below standard F 

Age analysis of past-due and impaired assets 

The table below shows the age analysis of loans that are past-due and impaired assets. 

Past-due and impaired 

31st Dec 31st Dec 
2024 2023 

£’000 £’000 
Neither past-due or impaired 322,682 285,275 
Past-due 
Within three months 35  3 
Over three months 49  16 
Total past-due 84  19 
Impaired 9,727  1,673 

332,493 286,967 
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Past-due and impaired (continued) 

Charity Bank held security that fully covered the past-due and impaired values. 

Security against past-due and impaired 

31st Dec 31st Dec 
2024 2023 

£’000 £’000 
Neither past-due or impaired 962,196 866,737 
Past-due 
Within three months - - 
Over three months - - 
Total past-due - - 
Impaired 27,822  7,865 

990,018 874,602 

Analysis of impaired loans and advances to customers 

Refer to note 14 for a detailed analysis of impairments. 

Credit exposure by sector 

31st Dec 31st Dec 
2024 2023 

£’000 £’000 
Banks 97,358 91,430 
Government 14,868 16,679 
Loans and advances to customers 331,101 285,315 
Other 2,355 2,571 

445,682 395,995 

The above sector analysis includes cash and balances at banks, financial assets, and loans and fees receivable. 

A proportion, 25% (31st December 2023: 27%) of Charity Bank’s total financial assets was to high quality financial 
institutions, the majority of which had external ratings of between A- and AA+. 

Liquidity risk 

Charity Bank is exposed to liquidity risk. The liquidity policy is reviewed at least annually by ALCO before being 
reviewed by the Risk Committee, with final review and approval by the Board. 

The liquidity policy requires that sufficient HQLAs are held in a form and at a level which reflects prudent banking 
practice and regulatory criteria to meet funding requirements under normal and abnormal circumstances. In 
particular, under internal policies the required levels of HQLAs in approved investments are required to be higher 
than the minimum levels determined by prudential regulation. 

Currency profile 

As at the year-end, Charity Bank was not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

Instruments held for trading 

None of Charity Bank’s financial instruments are held for trading purposes and no trading book is held. 
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28 Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Hedging 

Financial instruments are not held for transactional hedging purposes and are held to maturity. 

Market price risk 

Charity Bank is exposed to market price risk consisting of investments in approved debt securities, principally high-
quality securities issued by the government or central Banks of the UK or a European Economic Area member state. 
These investments represent Charity Bank’s policy to invest in HQLAs in accordance with regulatory requirements.  

These investments are subject to market price fluctuations in response to interest rate expectations and Charity 
Bank is therefore exposed to potential gains or losses on these investments. The below table represents the split of 
our financial assets and liabilities with their relevant market value. 

31st Dec 31st Dec 
2024 2023 

£’000 £’000 
Financial assets 
Cash and balances at banks 97,352 91,420 
Financial assets at amortised cost 14,859 16,661 
Loans and advances to customers 331,101 285,315 
Other assets 407 497 

443,719 393,893 

Financial liabilities 
Customer accounts 387,175 342,963 
Other liabilities 1,178 1,048 
Subordinated debt 9,346 8,141 

397,699 352,152 

Categories of financial instruments 

The table below represents Charity Bank assets and liabilities carrying amounts, classified by the categories as 
defined in IFRS 9. 
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Fair values of financial instruments 

Set out below is a year-end comparison of carrying values and fair values of all the Charity Bank’s financial 
instruments by category. The fair values are determined as stated below. 

Carrying Carrying Fair Fair 
value value value value 

31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 31st Dec 
2024 2023 2024 2023 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Financial assets 
Cash and balances at banks 97,352 91,420 97,352 91,420 
Financial assets at amortised cost 14,859 16,661 14,311 15,656 
Loans and advances to customers 331,101 285,315 336,345 290,478 
Other assets 407 497 407 497 

443,719 393,893 448,415 398,051 

Financial liabilities 
Customer accounts 387,175 342,963 387,175 342,963 
Other liabilities 1,178 1,048 1,178 1,048 
Subordinated debt 9,346 8,141 6,127 7,021 

397,699 352,152 394,480 351,032 

Basis of determination of fair values 

Cash and balances at banks: these consist of cash held in hand and balances held with other banks. The carrying 
amount of the cash balances is deemed to be a reasonable representation of the fair value. 

Financial Assets at amortised cost: these comprise of financial assets. The basis of estimating the fair value of these 
assets is by ascertaining the market value as at the balance sheet date from quoted prices. 

Loans and advances to customers: these comprise of loans and other facilities granted to non-bank customers. The 
fair value is calculated based on cash flows discounted using a current lending rate. 

Customer accounts: these comprise of deposits made with Charity Bank by all depositors. Fair value is calculated 
based on the present value of future payments of principal and interest cash flows. Given that a significant 
proportion of customer accounts are considered to be at current market rates, the carrying value generally 
approximates their fair value.  

Subordinated debt: as at 31st December 2024, there is one type of subordinated loan note in issue, which is a long-
term debt liability. Subordinated notes are valued using a discounted cash flow technique. The discount factor is 
derived using management’s best estimate of what the market rate would be for a debt instrument with similar 
characteristics taking into account what the primary market is in which such instruments would be traded. 
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Fair value measurement recognised in the statement of financial position 

The following tables provide an analysis of financial instruments for Charity Bank that are measured subsequent to 
initial recognition at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss. These are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based 
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:  

• Level 1 – fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 – fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 

• Level 3- – fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 31st December 2024 
Financial assets 
Amortised cost 
Loans and advances to customers - - 336,345 336,345 
Financial assets 14,311 - - 14,311 
Cash and balances at banks 97,352 - - 97,352 
Other assets - 407 - 407 

111,663 407 336,345 448,415 

Financial liabilities 
Amortised cost 
Customer accounts - 387,175 - 387,175 
Subordinated debt - - 6,127 6,127 
Other liabilities - 1,178 - 1,178 

- 388,353 6,127 394,480 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 31st December 2023 
Financial assets 
Amortised cost 
Loans and advances to customers - - 290,478 290,478 
Financial assets 15,656 - - 15,656 
Cash and balances at banks 91,420 - - 91,420 
Other assets - 497 - 497 

107,076 497 290,478 398,051 

Financial liabilities 
Amortised cost 
Customer accounts - 342,963 - 342,963 
Subordinated debt - - 7,021 7,021 
Other liabilities - 1,048 - 1,048 

- 344,011 7,021 351,032 
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Capital risk 

Charity Bank’s Capital Resources at the year-end were as follows: 

31st Dec 31st Dec 
2024 2023 

£’000 £’000 
Tier 1 
Ordinary share capital 16,810 16,621 
Retained earnings 13,669  7,398 
Share premium 7,932 7,707 
Intangible assets (871) (1,025) 
Total Tier 1 capital 37,540 30,701 
Tier 2 capital 
Subordinated loan notes 4,836  2,840 
Total Tier 2 capital 4,836 2,840 
Total capital resources 42,376 33,541 

29) Post balance sheet events

The Articles of Association permit the payment of a dividend to shareholders, a proposed dividend will be 
considered, and if appropriate approved at the AGM in June 2025 of £988k.  

No adjustment has been made to the financial statements for these transactions. 
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Country by country reporting 
The Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 came into effect on 1 January 2014 and 
place certain reporting obligations on financial institutions within the scope of the Capital Requirements Directive 
(CRD IV). All of the activities of Charity Bank are conducted in the United Kingdom and therefore 100% of the total 
income, profit before tax and tax paid as well as employee figures are related to the United Kingdom. 

UK UK 
2024 2023 

Number of employees (average full-time equivalent) 82 77 
Interest income (£'000) 28,476 24,041 
Profit before taxation (£'000) 6,590 8,990 
Tax expense (£'000) (1,649) (1,153) 
Corporation tax paid (£'000) (2,274) - 

Charity Bank has not received any direct public subsidies. The Bank manages programmes which provide funding to 
charities and social enterprises which may consider public subsidy for those enterprises within parameters permitted 
by relevant law. 

1) Basis of preparation

The Report and Financial information for the year ended 31st December 2024 have been prepared in accordance 
with UK adopted International accounting standards and the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-
by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as applicable to companies reporting under those standards. 

2) Accounting policies

This note sets out Charity Bank's accounting policies which relate to the financial information as a whole. All policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless stated otherwise. 

Income recognition 

a) Interest income and expense

Interest income on financial assets and interest expense on financial liabilities are recognised in ‘interest income’ 
and ‘interest expense’ in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using the ‘effective interest rate’ (’EIR’) method. 
Interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount on loans.  

The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the expected future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial 
instrument. The EIR incorporates fees receivable or paid that are an integral part of the yield of an effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. 

All income derives from banking business carried out in the United Kingdom. 

Taxation 

A tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 
or directly in Equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in Other Comprehensive Income or directly in Equity, 
respectively. 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. Charity Bank’s liability 
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. 
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Country by country (continued) 

2        Accounting policies (continued) 

Taxation (continued) 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of the 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.  

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Recognition of both deferred tax assets and deferred tax is reviewed on an annual basis 
at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities and there is an intention to 
settle the balances on a net basis. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realised. 
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Independent auditors’ report to the directors of The Charity 
Bank Limited 

Report on the audit of the country-by-country information 
Opinion 

In our opinion, The Charity Bank Limited’s country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been properly 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) 
Regulations 2013. 

We have audited the country-by-country information for the year ended 31 December 2024 in the Annual Report. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”), including ISA (UK) 800 and ISA 
(UK) 805, and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit 
of the country-by-country information section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the country-by-
country information in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to public interest entities, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation 

In forming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we draw attention to Note 1 of the country-by-
country information which describes the basis of preparation. The country-by-country information is prepared for the directors for the 
purpose of complying with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. The 
country-by-country information has therefore been prepared in accordance with a special purpose framework and, as a result, the 
country-by-country information may not be suitable for another purpose. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
included: 

● Evaluation of management’s going concern assessment;
● Evaluation of management’s financial forecasts and management’s stress testing of liquidity and regulatory

capital, including the severity of the stress scenarios and assumptions that were used; and
● Evaluation of management’s assessment of its liquidity profile and risk;
● Substantiation of cash and other liquid assets held by the company, as well as access to liquidity facilities at the Bank of 

England.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from the date on which the country-by-country information is authorised for issue. 

In auditing the country-by-country information, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the country-by-country information is appropriate. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this 
report. 
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Reporting on other information 

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the country-by-country information and our 
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the country-by-country information 
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the country-by-country information, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the country-by-country information or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material 
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the country-by-country 
information or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these 
responsibilities. 

Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the country-by-country information 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the country-by-country information in accordance with the requirements of the 
Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as explained in the basis of preparation in Note 1  and 
accounting policies in Note 2 to the country-by-country information, and for determining that the basis of preparation and accounting 
policies are acceptable in the circumstances. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of country-by-country information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the country-by-country information, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information 

It is our responsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this country-by-country 
information.  

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud, is detailed below. 

Based on our understanding of the company/industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations related to breaches of the rules of the Financial Conduct Authority, Prudential Regulatory 
Authority, UK tax legislation and equivalent laws and regulations applicable to the company, and we considered the extent to which 
non-compliance might have a material effect on the country-by-country information. We also considered those laws and regulations 
that have a direct impact on the country-by-country information such as applicable tax legislation and the Capital Requirements 
(Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent 
manipulation of the country-by-country information (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal 
risks were related to posting inappropriate journals, and management bias through judgments and assumptions in significant 
accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed included: 

● Making enquiries of management and those charged with governance in relation to non compliance with laws and regulation
and fraud;

● Reviewing key correspondence with the Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority;
● Challenging assumptions and judgments made by management in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in

relation to the risk of bias in the impairment of loans and advances (see related key audit matter above);
● Identifying and testing selected journal entries, in particular journal entries posted by senior management or with unusual

account combinations; and
● Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the country-by-country 
information. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through 
collusion. 
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the company’s directors in accordance with the Capital 
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, 
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
15 April 2025

Mobile User
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’’It would have taken us a very long time to 
raise enough money to buy the 

property. By going to Charity Bank, 
we’ve been able to launch something 

that we otherwise couldn’t have done 
for at least five years.’’

David Brown, Chair of Adam Outreach Project 

Unless indicated otherwise the photographs in this report are of our staff, savers, investors or organisations 
we have loaned money to. Nothing within this document should be deemed to constitute advice or a 
recommendation. If you are in any doubt, please seek professional advice before any course of action is 
taken. 

Registered Office: 

The Charity Bank Limited, Fosse House, 182 High Street, Tonbridge, TN9 1BE. Company registered in 
England and Wales No. 4330018. Authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by 
the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority. Financial Services Register 
No.207701. Member of the Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS). 
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